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Phosphagenics TPM®/Oxycodone patch alleviates 
pain in racehorses.
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Le Métier de Beauté assets sold to Maison de Beauté. 
Phosphagenics license arrangement to sell high end 
cosmetics is strengthened.
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Capital Raising of $19.3 million successfully completed. 
Several new institutions supported the placement.
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Results replicate October 2013 trial indicating therapeutic 
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Successful results from acne trial comparing  
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“ I look forward to 2015 as  
a year that will signal a turning 
point for our company. ”
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The year of 2014 was one of putting the past 
behind us and establishing the building blocks 
to take the Company forward. The two most 
important developments were the $19.3 million 
capital raising in July 2014 and the recently 
announced appointment of Dr Ross Murdoch 
as CEO. 

The capital raising was widely supported 
with a number of new institutions becoming 
shareholders. These investors were well spread 
globally with investors from Europe, Asia, USA 
and Australia, and the success of this issue 
was a strong endorsement of the technology 
and the potential that is anticipated in the 
development of this technology. 

The Board also reviewed the structure of the 
Company. Despite a strong reputation for 
quality, consumer satisfaction and evidence 
of effectiveness and superiority, the Company 
decided that it could not justify the marketing 
and promotional dollars required to provide 
BioElixia® with the foothold it needed to 
grow in the cosmetics industry. A decision 
was therefore made to put this brand up for 
sale. Phosphagenics’ decision reflects its 
commitment to focus on the areas where 
it can add most value and find experts to 
maximise shareholder value for the others. 
The Company will continue to concentrate 
its commercialisation strategy on licensing 
and partnering opportunities that use other 
companies’ expertise and experience in 
marketing and promotion to generate sales 
of products incorporating Phosphagenics’ 
TPM® technology.

The credentials of our new 
CEO appear ideal for a company 
such as ours. With a long history within the 
industry in working for both small biotechnology 
companies and large global pharmaceuticals, 
he has the experience to execute on our 
strategic vision and fully understands how to 
entice interest in our programs from established 
life science companies. I am confident that with 
his direction our team will make considerable 
progress towards commercialising our various 
projects during this year.

My enthusiasm for the TPM® technology 
remains as strong as it was when I first joined 
Phosphagenics and I believe that we have laid 
the foundation for a successful future with the 
financing and the appointment of Dr Murdoch. 
I look forward to 2015 as a year that will signal 
a turning point for our company.

I would like to thank the executive team and all 
of the employees of Phosphagenics for their 
terrific dedication to the company during this 
transition period. I would also like to thank my 
colleagues on the board for their commitment, 
and the shareholders for their continued 
support of the Company. 

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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It is clear that the revelations of 2013 took a toll 
on everyone associated with Phosphagenics, 
and for this reason 2014 was as much a year 
of recovery as one of achievement. Moving 
forward, the focus must be on achievement. 
I am pleased to say that today I see a company 
with a new Board in place (as of February 2014), 
a substantial capital raising behind us, a new 
CEO, positive data on lead assets and a staff with 
renewed energy, optimism and determination 
to succeed and to deliver. Recognising this, 
and my newness to the role, I am going to use 
the first part of my report to paint a picture for 
shareholders of where we are going, and finish 
with a look backwards to point out what we 
achieved and what we learnt in 2014.

The first thing that struck me when I started 
my due diligence of Phosphagenics was 
the potential of the Company’s proprietary 
technology: unique, adaptable and flexible, 
with the ability to be applied across 
numerous products and multiple industries. 
The management challenge with any such 
adaptable platform is focus: the ability to 
focus on the projects of greatest potential and 
the challenge of deciding the best and most 
effective way to extract as much shareholder 
value as possible from the technology with finite 
funds, time and personnel. In an industry where 
the difference between success and failure on 
share price is enormous, the best strategy not 
only needs to find the best projects but also 
minimise the chance that shareholders are 
exposed to large binary outcomes (a situation 
all too familiar for the biotechnology sector). 

I see Phosphagenics as a designer drug 
delivery company focused on providing novel 
solutions to resolve unmet needs: TPM® 
is our proprietary platform tool with which 
to do it. Although a “platform”, it is important 
to recognise that optimising drug delivery 

is by no means “plug-and-play”, 
even with TPM®. Understanding the 
nuances of this is a strength that Phosphagenics 
has developed over more than 10 years. It is 
the combination of TPM®, and the experience 
to effectively use it, that will be the secret 
to success for Phosphagenics.

Our primary development candidates remain 
the TPM®-opioid patches (the TPM®/Oxycodone 
(TPM-OC) patch and the TPM®/Oxymorphone 
(TPM-OM) patch). Both patches are designed 
to improve the duration of pain relief, drug 
delivery and side effect profile compared to the 
existing oral forms of the drugs. Many of the 
largest pharmaceutical companies in this space 
have recognised the value associated with 
improved opioid delivery and tried to achieve 
this through multiple mechanisms, but until now 
success has been marginal at best. We have 
a great opportunity to achieve a paradigm shift 
in opioid delivery.

The TPM-OC patch is the most advanced 
and potentially the most revolutionary of our 
opioid patch projects. Tech transfer has been 
successfully completed and the Phase 2 trial 
is starting as I write this report. If successful, 
this will provide the possibility of treating 
neuropathic pain topically with an opioid for 
the first time without meaningful systemic 
delivery, opening up a huge market opportunity. 
The results of a Phase 2 clinical trial are 
expected to be available later this year. 

The path to the development of a TPM-OM 
patch has proven to be more complex and 
taken longer than anyone could foresee. 
I am pleased to say that we are now moving 
towards the final stages of tech transfer for 
TPM-OM patch to our US manufacturer, which 
will allow resumption of the IND-informing trials 
to start soon. Three key success criteria from 

CEO’S REPORT – ROSS MURDOCH
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the perspective of the FDA and commercial 
partners will be tested during 2015: (i) TPM®’s 
ability to overcome oxymorphone’s potential 
to cause dermal irritation and sensitisation, 
(ii) the wearability and durability of the newly 
formulated patch design, and (iii) initial 
evidence that the TPM-OM patch as designed 
is appropriate to provide chronic pain sufferers 
with adequate drug levels to reduce pain. 
We have already demonstrated initial safety 
in a typical Phase 1 population (young male 
volunteers), however, moving into chronic 
“opioid experienced” patients carries new 
challenges and risks. 

While our focus will remain on the opioid 
patches, I am pleased to say that we also 
have other key programs advancing in 
the background in parallel, with partnering 
opportunities being sought or expanded 
in relation to all of these.

The main highlights of 2014 chronologically 
were as follows:

In January Novartis launched the 
Phosphagenics formulated diclofenac gel. 
Sales have been solid with Themis (the 
licensee) placing further orders for TPM® as 
the year progressed. With a relatively low retail 
price for the product in India, the royalties are 
not particularly substantial but the Novartis 
arrangement and the accompanying marketing 
material remain one of the strong endorsements 
for the TPM® technology. We will continue to 
look for opportunities to expand this or other 
similar arrangements globally.

In May we announced trial results from a small 
oxycodone topical patch study in racehorses 
with cannon bone injury (shin soreness). The 
results achieved in the six horses tested were 
impressive, with five achieving pain relief within 

24 hours and all achieving pain relief within 
48 hours. These results not only suggest the 
applicability of this as a potential animal health 
product, but also provide further evidence that 
the oxycodone patch may achieve its endpoints 
in the ongoing Phase 2 clinical human trial 
mentioned above.

In June we reported that the brand Le Métier 
de Beauté was being acquired by Maison de 
Beauté. Funds owing were paid to us to clear 
outstanding royalty payments and Maison 
de Beauté proposes to expand the distribution 
network of Le Métier’s products.

In July we undertook a capital raising of which 
$16.3 million were raised with professional 
investors and $3 million from a SPP at 
8c. The capital raising introduced several 
new institutions to the register with some 
undertaking further buying in the market since. 
The capital raising was a strong endorsement 
of the Phosphagenics technology and the 
commercial opportunity that this represents. 

In August we announced the results of the 
first of our IND-enabling studies for the 
TPM-OM patch. This study analysed several 
pharmacokinetic parameters in 15 trial patients. 
Including the 2013 trial, the number of subjects 
successfully receiving oxymorphone through 
the skin at concentration levels that are known 
to be therapeutic for the oral drug is now 27. 
In October we announced successful results 
of our preliminary proof-of-principle clinical 
trial with Tretinion. Although not powered to 
show statistical significance around efficacy, 
the results indicated that our TPM®/Tretinoin gel 
achieved better outcomes for patients suffering 
from acne vulgaris than the market leader 
Retin-A®. Interestingly the vehicle (TPM® alone) 
performed comparably with the market leader.

5
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“...Whilst the revenues are modest, 
the importance of having Novartis 
marketing and promoting the superiority 
of our product may open up other 
opportunities for this Company.”
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In December we announced that ethics 
approval had been received for the TPM®/
Oxycodone phase 2 trial, with screening for the 
trial commencing in February 2015. 

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENTS

As we recently announced, the BioElixia® 
brand is in the process of being sold and this 
decision reflects our commitment to focus on 
the areas where we believe we can add most 
value, and find experts to maximise shareholder 
value for the others. Several companies have 
shown interest and have undertaken due 
diligence. We expect that any deal will give 
some ongoing upside to shareholders. Whilst 
the discontinuance of the BioElixia® brand will 
impact future revenues, the cost savings will be 
directed to projects which have greater priority. 

Last year we also launched our first 
pharmaceutical products in India, the diclofenac 
gels sold by Novartis as Vovaren® TPM 
and Themis as Instanac® TPM. Whilst the 
revenues are modest, given the low prices 
for the products in India, the importance of 
having Novartis marketing and promoting the 
superiority of our product may open up other 
opportunities for us. We remain confident that 
a diclofenac arrangement for regions beyond 
India will be achieved. In the meantime, several 
reorders of TPM® would indicate that sales in 
India continue to grow.

Animal health has expanded its distribution 
during the past year, and reorders of TPM® 
indicate that business in this area is growing, 
especially for the sale of Uddermate® into the 
Australian and New Zealand markets. The 
revenues for animal health will be boosted by 
our recently completed exclusive licensing deal 
with IAH to use TPM® in feed stock sold to the 
Denis Brinicombe Group, a UK based animal 
health company. The agreement for the UK and 
Ireland specifies annual minimum quantities 
of TPM®, which will represent a significant 
increase in the animal health revenues currently 
generated by Phosphagenics.

On a very positive note the sales and revenues 
associated with Vital ET® (raw tocopheryl 
phosphate), our supercharged form of Vitamin 
E used as an ingredient in the personal care 
industry, rose to around $1.5 million. We will 
focus on sustaining this demand in 2015 and 
growing this market further.

During 2014 our commercial arrangement with 
Mylan continued, with progress being made 
towards taking the injectable product to market. 
Mylan is a major US company and a prominent 
manufacturer of generic products, including 
the injectable partnered with Phosphagenics. 
That particular injectable, which is a generic 
currently, has global sales in excess of $1 billion.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

The Company’s financial position was 
strengthened in July 2014 with the capital raising 
of $19.3 from institutions and shareholders. 
This introduced several new investors from 
Europe, Asia and the USA. Existing institutional 
investors also participated. Since the placement, 
institutions have continued to buy on market, 
recognising that the weakness in the share 
market, and biotech shares in particular, have 
created good value opportunities.

The Board also underwent a substantial 
change with the whole Board changing, with 
the exception of Harry Rosen, who remains 
on as an executive Board member. 

Finally, I have come to Phosphagenics without 
any illusions about the size of the task at 
hand, but I remain convinced today, as I was 
when I accepted the position of CEO, that my 
experience and skill-set fit the needs of the 
company moving forward. I would like to thank 
Harry for his work guiding Phosphagenics 
through 2014 and I look forward to the progress 
we will make in 2015.

7
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The $40 billion plus pain market continues to 
be viewed as a lucrative area of technological 
endeavour by global pharmaceutical companies. 

Pain is the body’s alarm mechanism, warning of 
potential or actual damage to parts of the body. 
It causes the sufferer to withdraw from and 
avoid intense or damaging stimuli, to protect 
the individual from further damage and pain. 
In some situations, pain persists for prolonged 
periods of time, even when the underlying 
condition causing the pain appears to have 
been repaired. This long-term ‘chronic pain’ is 
most simply defined as pain that lasts for more 
than three months. It may get progressively 
worse and it may outlast the usual healing 
process. Common forms of chronic pain include 
lower back pain, some headache pain, pain due 
to arthritis, and some forms of neuropathic pain 
such as postherpetic neuralgia (PHN).

The flexibility of Phosphagenics’ TPM® 
technology has enabled the creation of 
multiple enhanced pain therapeutics, both 
opioids and non-opioids. This variety provides 
us with a suite of potential analgesics, both in 
development and commercialisation. Whilst 
opioids are at the forefront of our pain portfolio, 
the success of our diclofenac formulations and 
our ability to apply TPM® to other drugs, such as 
ibuprofen and lidocaine, gives the pain portfolio 
a number of potential commercialisation 
opportunities. Both the opioid and non-opioid 
pain markets are large opportunities with clear 
unmet needs. The ability of TPM®-enhanced 
formulations to more effectively deliver greater 
quantities of the active is seen to have real 
commercial appeal. The 2014 launch of our 
diclofenac gel formulation, currently sold in 
India by Novartis, is an entrant in a global target 
market of nearly a billion dollars.

TPM®/OXYCODONE PATCH

According to IMS Health Disease Insights 2014, 
sales of products to treat neuropathic pain in 
the US alone was around US $4 billion. Many 
of the treatments are considered relatively 
ineffective and side effects are a major concern. 
A successful locally acting opioid patch product 
would create an opportunity in a market which 
currently has a significant un-met need.

In 2014 Phosphagenics completed all the work 
required to begin a Phase 2a clinical study 
testing the TPM®/Oxycodone patch. This “proof-
of-concept” Phase 2 study will test whether a 
topically delivered, locally acting oxycodone 
patch is able to provide analgesia for sufferers 
of post herpetic neuralgia (PHN), a condition 
where nerves in the skin are damaged during 
herpes zoster infection, or shingles. 

The trial is a randomised, double blind, vehicle 
controlled, single dose crossover study in up 
to 28 subjects with PHN. It is being conducted 
at five sites around Australia. The trial itself 
takes at least 38 days for each patient from 
initial screening and selection through to post 
treatment assessment. Once identified, patients 
entering this study undergo a three-stage 
screening process to ensure they comply with 
all study requirements prior to initiating use of 
the patch. Recruitment into this study began in 
February 2015 and dosing of the first patient 
is expected to occur in April 2015. We would 
expect the trial to be completed in H2 2015. 

The aim of this study is to demonstrate for the 
first time that pain relief can be achieved by local, 
topical application of an opioid via a patch. It is 
hypothesized that inflammation in peripheral 
tissues caused by shingles up-regulates opioid 
receptors on nerves in the affected region 
(skin), and oxycodone delivered from the TPM®/

PAIN PORTFOLIO
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Oxycodone patch can act directly on those 
opioid receptors to achieve pain relief. There are 
no opioid patches approved to treat peripheral 
(including neuropathic) pain in humans, so this 
represents a unique and valuable opportunity.

In 2012, Phosphagenics announced the results 
of rodent studies that demonstrated that 
oxycodone can be transported across the skin 
directly into inflamed tissue to provide local pain 
relief. This work was submitted earlier this year 
for peer-review publication.

TPM®/OXYMORPHONE PATCH

During 2014 Phosphagenics progressed various 
supporting programs necessary as part of filing 
a US IND and to facilitate the initiation of a 
Phase 2b trial in North America. These programs 
included a Phase 1 pharmacokinetic clinical 
trial to assess the delivery profile of the patch. 
In August 2014 we announced the successful 
completion of this IND-enabling clinical study, 
with all patients in this study achieving and 
maintaining blood plasma levels which met 
or exceeded the target levels set for the 
duration of the trial. The threshold target plasma 
concentrations for this trial were set to match the 
levels acknowledged as providing therapeutic 
efficacy with oral dosing of oxymorphone. 
Pleasingly, the plasma level seen correlated 
well with the promising findings from previous 
studies, as can be seen in the graph below. 

At present, the technical transfer and scale-
up process for the oxymorphone patches is 
underway at our selected US manufacturer, 
and we are targeting completion of these 
activities in the second quarter of 2015. Once 
produced, these patches will be used for all 
future studies. There are currently three near 
term studies seen as key: assessing the stability 
of the patch formulation, the human wearability 
and durability of the patch, and the sensitisation 
and irritation potential that may be related to 
the API (oxymorphone) itself. Success in each 
of these three studies will be crucial to the 
progression of the patch’s clinical development. 
All three of these studies are underway, with 
results anticipated by the end of second quarter 
of 2015. The second IND-enabling clinical 
study would then follow, and we are targeting 
a start date in the next quarter. This study will 
investigate suitable anatomical application sites 
for patch placement, as well as determining 
appropriate rest periods before reapplying a 
patch to the same site. The data from all these 
studies will then be collated and will form part of 
the IND to be lodged prior to gaining approval 
to start the Phase 2b trial in the US.

TPM®/DICLOFENAC GEL, PATCH 

The launch in January 2014 of the 
Phosphagenics diclofenac formulations 
Voveran® TPM and Instanac® TPM represented 
a significant milestone for the company, being 
the first commercial launch of pharmaceutical 
products produced by the Company, and the 
first commercial validation of TPM®-enhanced 
formulations. We believe launching this product 
with Novartis provides TPM® with further 
valuable, commercially visible validation.  
The promotional insert included with the 
Voveran TPM® product compares our 
formulation with other diclofenac products 
(including Novartis’ own Voltaren Emulgel®) 
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and indicates that our gel is able to deliver 
more of the key active. The Indian market is 
highly competitive with relatively low product 
pricing meaning that even with clear product 
differentiation, revenues are expected to be 
modest. The sales since launch have been 
very solid and reorders of TPM® indicate 
growth. Sales of TPM® this year, to our Indian 
manufacturer, Themis, are comfortably ahead 
of the corresponding period last year. 

We continue to have discussions about 
expanding our formulation into other regions 
and remain optimistic of consummating 
commercial arrangements relating to this 
or similar diclofenac products during 2015.

10
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In 2014 we continued to grow our relationship 
with Integrated Animal Health (IAH), our lead R&D 
and commercialisation partner in animal health. 
IAH spent a good portion of 2014 establishing 
a strong infrastructure to enable increased sales 
in Australia and New Zealand. The majority of our 
revenue from IAH came from the sale of TPM® 
for inclusion in IAH’s Udder-Mate® products, 
sold to the dairy cattle industry in Australia. 
In the second half of 2014, distribution was 
initiated in New Zealand, resulting in additional 
revenue to Phosphagenics. 

We expect continued sales growth in 2015, 
not only in Australia but also in Europe. In March 
2015, Phosphagenics entered into an exclusive 
license agreement with IAH for the inclusion of 
TPM® in feed products to be sold in the UK and 
Ireland. IAH in turn will enter into a distribution 
agreement with the Denis Brinicombe Group, 
a UK-based private company that sells animal 
health products in the UK and other regions. 
The licence agreement with IAH includes 
guaranteed minimum quantities and royalties, 
which would represent a significant increase 
in the amount of TPM® purchased by IAH.

In addition to our growth on the animal nutrition 
side, Phosphagenics also generated exciting 
data in animal health. In May 2014, we released 
results of a study assessing the efficacy 
of a TPM®/Oxycodone topical patch in six 
thoroughbred racehorses suffering with cannon 
(shin) bone soreness. Phosphagenics’ TPM®/
Oxycodone patches were applied to the injured 
limbs daily for 10 days. The study showed that 

within 48 hours, all racehorses whose soreness 
had been rated as moderate or severe appeared 
pain free; five of the six appeared pain free 
within the first 24 hours. On the strength of these 
results, this product is being further developed 
for the companion animal market. These results 
provide some confidence that the TPM®/
Oxycodone patch may prove effective and well 
tolerated in humans. The TPM®/Oxycodone 
patch is currently being assessed in a proof-of-
concept Phase 2a clinical trial of for the treatment 
of postherpetic neuralgia (PHN) in humans.

ANIMAL HEALTH

“...We expect continued sales 
growth in 2015, not only in 
Australia but also in Europe. ”
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Phosphagenics’ TPM® technology brings unique 
advantages to the fields of dermatology and 
skincare. The enriched vitamin E activity of 
tocopheryl phosphates allows TPM® to reduce 
dermal irritation, adding value long after delivery 
is complete – it’s not just a delivery technology 
to increase absorption. The potent anti-
erythema properties of tocopheryl phosphate 
are what drew Ashland to the product, and 
Phosphagenics continues to supply Vital 
ET® into the personal care space for its skin 
soothing properties. 

TPM®/TRETINOIN GEL 

Tretinoin has long been the drug of choice 
for the treatment of acne vulgaris and shows 
a well-characterised relationship between 
increasing dose and more effective acne 
reduction. However, increasing the dose of 
tretinoin also increases the rate and severity 
of adverse skin reactions, including erythema 
and dryness. These skin irritation reactions 
are often severe enough to limit the amount 
of drug being applied preventing optimal acne 
reduction, in some cases forcing the cessation 
of treatment altogether. In previous human 
studies on healthy volunteers, Phosphagenics 
has demonstrated that a TPM®/Tretinoin 
formulation is able to increase the absorption of 
the drug while reducing the irritation. 

The pilot Phase 2 trial conducted by 
Phosphagenics last year evaluated the efficacy, 
safety and tolerability of the TPM®/Tretinoin 
formulation compared to the market leader 
Retin-A and a vehicle control formulation 
containing TPM® alone. The trial was a 
randomised, vehicle controlled investigator 
blind study on 53 patients suffering mild 
to moderate acne vulgaris. Results were 
assessed over 12 weeks of treatment. All 
three formulations demonstrated significant 

reductions from baseline in total acne lesion 
counts, with TPM®/Tretinoin producing the 
highest mean reduction. At 12 weeks, the 
difference between the TPM®/Tretinoin 
treatment was statistically superior to the 
vehicle control containing TPM®, whereas the 
Retin-A® treatment was not statistically superior 
to the vehicle control. 

While there was little difference in the number 
of patients who improved by 2 IGA points (a 
measure of overall acne severity), there was 
a clear difference in the number of patients 
who saw a smaller improvement (<2): 70% of 
the TPM®/Tretinoin patients saw improvement, 
compared to 42% for Retin-A®. The TPM® vehicle 
also outperformed the Retin-A® treatment, with 
46% of subjects showing improvement. 

The performance of the TPM® control was 
illuminating. While it is not unusual for an acne 
trial to have a strong placebo/vehicle effect, 
the degree of acne reduction produced by the 
TPM® vehicle was greater than would be typical 
for a normal vehicle. This effect was likely a 
function of tocopheryl phosphate activity. 

VITAL ET®

There was a significant increase in sales of Vital 
ET® in 2014, with sales reaching a record level 
of almost $1.5 million on production exceeding 
22 tonnes. We expect these stronger sales to 
continue this year. 

Ashland Inc, our Vital ET® distributor, has 
conducted a number of trials over several 
years confirming the benefits of its Vital ET® 
product. The Vital ET® product finds its way into 
the formulations of some of the world’s global 
giants in the manufacture and sale of personal 
care products. When one looks at the amount 
of Vital ET® that is included in most formulations 
– whether these are shampoos, aftershaves or 

SKIN CARE
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body washes – the retail value of products that 
is represented by those 22 tonnes of product is 
quite substantial indeed.

BIOELIXIA®

In February 2015 Phosphagenics announced 
that the BioElixia® branded products division 
was being put up for sale. There have been 
expressions of interest and a commercial 
arrangement is being pursued. 

Phosphagenics still intends to enter cosmetics 
licensing agreements and continues with 
the Le Métier de Beauté arrangement. The 
GNC arrangement is in the process of being 
terminated and the Korean Drug Company 
arrangement is under review. 

In 2014 BioElixia® sales were well below the 
previous year, which had been inflated by the 
launch of the Stretch Mark cream. Also in 2014, 
BioElixia® sales on TVSN failed to materialise. 
The absence of TVSN as a retailer impacted 
total sales, as TVSN was historically the single 
largest outlet for BioElixia® products. The launch 
of the Rescue cream, while well received by 
those customers who used it, failed to reverse 
the sales decline.

Much effort was made by the BioElixia® division 
to reduce costs, which actually resulted in a 
lower overall loss for the division. Much of this 
reduction was due to less marketing spending, 
so this also had a negative impact on revenues.
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STRATEGIC COLLABORATIONS

Phosphagenics continued to work with a number of global companies in the area of product 
development and commercialisation during 2014.

tesa Labtec GmbH – Contractor for the oxycodone patch 
development.

INC – Clinical Research Organisation. Clinical trial consultants.

Themis – Licensee of diclofenac topical gel product for India.

Novartis (India) – Sub-licensee of diclofenac gel product for India.

Mastitis Management Australia – Development /Licensee Animal 
feed incorporating TPM® for mastitis. Australia and New Zealand.

Equine Ergogenic Australia – Development and licensee of 
limited horseracing feeds globally.

Integrated Animal Health – Animal Health licensee. Holding 
company for Mastitis Management and Equine Ergonomics.

Le Métier de Beauté – Licensee of TPM® for personal care of high 
end retailers.

Ashland (formerly ISP) – Distributor of Vital ET® for use in personal 
care products.

Korean Drug Company – Distributor of anti-cellulite product 
in South Korea

Mylan Inc – Development/licensee for a liquid antibiotic injectable.

14
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TPM® PHARMACEUTICAL PIPELINE

Product Formulation Therapeutic 
Area

Partner 
(Geography) Preclinical Phase 1/2 Phase 3 Marketed

Diclofenac Gel Pain (NSAID)
Novartis; 
Themis (India)

Antibiotic* Injectable Antibiotic Mylan (Global)

Tretinoin Gel Dermatology TBD

Oxymorphone Patch Pain (opioid) TBD

Oxycodone Patch Pain (opioid) TBD

Lidocaine Gel Pain 
(anesthetic) TBD

Diclofenac Patch Pain (NSAID) TBD

Lidocaine Patch Pain 
(anesthetic) TBD

Ibuprofen Gel Pain (NSAID) TBD

Ketoconazole Gel Dermatology TBD

Propofol Injectable Anesthetic TBD

There are several other projects in early research and development across various therapeutic areas.

* This molecule cannot be disclosed for confidentiality reasons; this product has been licensed but not yet launched by Mylan

PRODUCT PIPELINE

Partnered Not Partnered
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TPM® ANIMAL HEALTH PIPELINE

Product Formulation Therapeutic 
Area (Species) Partner (Geography) R&D Market

TPM®/Antioxidant Intra-mammary
Mastitis 
(Bovine)

USDA (Study lapsed)

TPM® based Supplements  
(7 products)

Oral
Nutrition 
(Equine)

Integrated Animal Health 
(AU & NZ)

TPM® based Feeds  
(7 products)

Oral
Nutrition 
(Equine)

Integrated Animal Health 
(AU & NZ)

TPM® based Feeds/ 
Udder Mate TM  (5 products)

Oral
Nutrition 
(Bovine)

Integrated Animal Health 
(AU & NZ)

TPM® based Pain 
Therapeutics

Topical/ 
Transdermal

Pain None

Partnered Not Partnered

TPM® COSMETICS PIPELINE

Product Partner / Retailer (Geography) R&D Market

BioElixia® BodyShaper (6 Products)*
BioElixia.com (North America) 
Amazon.com (North America) 
Multiple retail outlets

BioElixia® Skin Care (10 Products)* Multiple retail outlets

Le Métier Skincare (7 Products, 11 SKUs) Le Métier de Beauté (USA)

Vital ET® Ashland (Global)

KDC BodyShaper® Cellulite Cream Korean Drug Company (S Korea)

*BioElixia® branded products division has been put up for sale
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DR ROSS MURDOCH

After a global search which took over 12 months, 
a new CEO was appointed in January 2015.

Dr Ross Murdoch who has over 25 years’ 
experience as a leader within the global 
Healthcare, Pharmaceutical and Biotech 
industries. He has held senior management 
and executive positions in Australia, USA and 
Europe with both small and large enterprises. 
His responsibilities have included strategy, 
development and commercialisation of 
products, building of product portfolios, the 
building of new businesses and the rebuilding 
of existing ones. 

He held the position of Senior Vice President at 
Shire Pharmaceuticals (a UK-domiciled speciality 
global pharmaceutical giant), where he founded 
and grew both the Emerging Products Business 
and the Haematology Business in the US 
and Switzerland. Prior to Shire, he worked in 
Australia for Prana Biotechnology, where he 
was President and COO. 

Dr Murdoch has a BSc degree with honours from 
Monash University, a PhD in Clinical Pharmacology 
from the University of Melbourne, and additional 
post-graduate training in Health Economics from 
Monash University Business School.

Dr Murdoch’s management 
style is already becoming 
evident at Phosphagenics, where he is very 
inclusive of all staff in the decision-making 
processes. While it is his decision to finalise 
strategy, he has made it evident that he values 
input from all interested parties and employees 
in the process. He has a very pragmatic 
approach to management and a philosophy that 
no matter what is being negotiated, the best 
outcome is always a win/win for both parties.

Dr Murdoch has an advantage of being a 
“cleanskin” at Phosphagenics having had no 
association with the Company prior to joining. 
This enables him to have a more incisive view 
of the path forward for the Company, without 
being shackled by events or personalities 
of the past. His decisions can be made 
unemotionally, and he is committed to focusing 
on providing the greatest potential for increase 
in shareholder value.

A NEW CEO

PHOSPHAGENICS ANNUAL REPORT    2014
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PAUL GAVIN

Chief Scientific Officer

Dr Gavin joined Phosphagenics 
in 2002 whilst completing 
his PhD in Biochemistry and 
Molecular Biology at Monash 
University. He had previously 

completed a Bachelor of Science 
degree (with honours) majoring in 

Biochemistry.

He has been involved in many of the major 
research developments at Phosphagenics, 
including the “eureka” moment in early 2005 
when the team created TPM® nanoparticles. 
These formulations became a very unique and 
highly valuable delivery system and formed the 
platform for the subsequent evolution of the 
TPM® delivery system. 

Dr Gavin’s role as Chief Scientific Officer 
involves overseeing the Company’s pre-clinical 
and clinical research programs, liaising with 
key opinion leaders and regulatory experts, 
providing input into strategic decision making 
and presenting the Company to brokers, 
institutions and conferences.

As part of the executive, Dr Gavin provides 
input for strategy and planning.

He is experienced in many aspects of academic 
and commercial research and development, 
has published in peer journals, as well as being 
an inventor in multiple patents.

ANNA LEGG 

Chief Financial Officer

Ms Legg joined Phosphagenics 
in January 2013.

She has over 15 years of 
experience in financial management 
in government, private and public 
companies. She has been involved in 
establishing international entities covering 
their tax, legal and funding requirements. Her 
particular strengths include statutory reporting, 
system development and financial modelling. 

Ms Legg works closely with the CEO and Senior 
Management Team to provide financial support 
for the growth of the business in Australia and 
internationally. She was primarily responsible for 
uncovering accounting irregularities that related 
to the former CEO.

She holds a Bachelor of Economics from 
Macquarie University, Sydney and a Diploma 
in Law from the Legal Profession Admission 
Board, Sydney.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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ALEX STOJANOVIC 

Dr Stojanovic joined the Company in 
February 2014 as Vice-President 

of Business Development and 
commercial operations and works 
out of the New York office.

He has broad commercial 
experience, having consulted to 
a large number of pharmaceutical 

companies. He also had a role 
as Senior Director of Global New 

Compound Marketing at Grunenthal 
GmbH, a pharmaceutical company 

specialising in pain therapeutics. There he was 
involved in the commercial planning for two 
novel opioids in Phase 2/3 for the treatment 
of chronic pain.

Dr Stojanovic completed a Post-Doctorial 
Fellowship in Drug Discovery at North Western 
University (USA) where he conducted research 
on neurodegenerative disease. He also has 
a PhD in Pharmacology & Toxicology from 
Dartmouth College and a Bachelor of Science 
degree from the University of Illinois.

JASON J ROSEN

Mr Rosen joined the 
Company in October 2011 
and serves as General 
Counsel. He is based in the 
New York office, and assumes 
a business development and 
commercial role in addition to 
managing the Company’s legal affairs.

He worked for several years as Senior Solicitor in 
the litigation branch of the Victorian Government 
Solicitor’s Office, the primary source of legal 
advice to the State of Victoria Australia. Prior to 
that, he completed an appointment as judicial 
clerk to the Honourable Justice Finkelstein at 
the Federal Court of Australia, and prior to that, 
he worked in the litigation department and 
commercial department of global law firm Allens 
Arthur Robinson.

Mr Rosen obtained a B Comm /LLB from 
the University of Melbourne (First Class 
Honours). He also completed an LLM (health 
law/pharmaceutical law focus) at New York 
University Law School, having been granted 
an Arthur T Vanderbilt Scholarship.
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PHOSPHAGENICS – CONSOLIDATED 5 YEARS IN REVIEW

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

NET ASSETS/EQUITY

per share (cents) 3.9 3.9  5.2  6.2  4.1 

Amount $49.03 m $39.50 m $53.22 m $63.01 m $30.64 m

SECURITIES :  
Year End Market Prices

Shares (POH)(cents) 7.0 11.5 14.5 21.0 12.0

MARKET 
CAPITALISATION 

$88.3 m $117.4 m $147.9 m $213.7 m $88.8 m

ISSUED SECURITIES

Shares (POH) quoted  1,261,965,957  1,020,465,957  1,020,215,957  1,017,565,957  739,696,509 

Options (POHOB) quoted - - - - -

Options (various) unquoted 3,000,000 2,750,000 9,400,000 13,150,000 15,450,000

Rights unquoted 13,200,000 16,000,000 18,100,000 17,400,000 -

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

EQUITY RAISING

Exercise of Options - 36  356  -    -   

Share Purchase Plan 3,000 -    -    3,001  -   

Placement 16,320 -    -    31,706  -   

Capital Raising Costs (1,115) (2) (41) (2,066)  -   

18,205 34  315  32,641  -   

FUNDING

Cash and Receivables 21,437 9,505 17,437 28,124 3,045

OPERATING RESULTS

After Impairments and Tax (8,935) (12,673) (10,513) (457) (15,486)

NET OPERATING 
EXPENSES

Research Expenses $3.38 m $3.82 m $1.93 m $3.99 m $1.83 m
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PATENT PORTFOLIO

Title Jurisdictions Granted Jurisdictions Pending Expiry

A carrier comprising one or 
more di and/or mono-(electron 
transfer agent) phosphate 
derivatives

Australia, Canada, China, Israel, 
Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, 
Russia, Singapore, South Africa

Brazil, Hong Kong, India, USA June 2026

Alkaloid Formulations Australia, Canada, China, Europe, 
Hong Kong, India, Japan, Mexico, 
New Zealand, Russia, Singapore, 
South Africa, South Korea

Brazil, Israel, USA March 2025

Carrier Australia August 2023

Carrier Composition New Zealand, Singapore,  
South Africa

Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, 
Europe, India, Israel, Japan, 
South Korea, Mexico, Russia, 
USA

December 
2030

Carrier Composition Singapore, South Africa Australia, Brazil, Canada, 
China, Europe, Hong Kong, 
India, Israel, Japan, South 
Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, 
Singapore, South Africa, Taiwan, 
USA

Feb 2031

Carrier for Enteral 
Administration

Australia, China, Europe, Japan, 
Mexico, New Zealand, Russia, 
Singapore, South Africa

Brazil, Canada, India, USA August 2025

Complexes of Phosphate 
Derivatives

Australia, Europe Brazil November 
2021

Composition Australia, Europe, Hong Kong, 
USA

Feb 2031

Dermal Therapy Australia, Canada, Japan, USA July 2022

Formulations containing 
Phosphate Derivatives of 
Electron Transfer Agents

Australia, Canada, China, 
Europe, Japan, Mexico, South 
Korea, USA 

Brazil, Hong Kong November 
2021

Improved Processes for 
Phosphorylation

Australia, Brazil, Canada, 
Europe, Japan, Mexico, USA

May 2020

New Composition Australia, Europe, India, New 
Zealand, USA

March 2032

Transdermal Delivery Patch 
(Biologically Active Compounds)

Mexico, Russia, Singapore, 
South Africa, USA (National 
Phase)

Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, 
Europe, Hong Kong, India, 
Israel, Japan, South Korea, New 
Zealand, Taiwan, USA (further 
continuation)

March 2031

Unpublished Applications

Formulations Provisional

Formulations Provisional
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Your directors are pleased to submit this report on Phosphagenics Limited and its controlled entities for 
the year ended 31 December 2014.

DIRECTORS

The names and particulars of the directors of Phosphagenics Limited in at office at any time during or 
since the end of the period.

Information on Directors

Currently in Office:

LAWRENCE GOZLAN BSc (Hons)

Independent non-executive director  
(appointed 28 February 2014)

Chairman

Chairman of remuneration committee

Member of nomination and audit and risk 
committees

Mr Gozlan has been a leading fund manager and 
analyst in the Australian biotech sector over the 
past decade. He is the Chief Investment Officer and 
founder of global investment fund Scientia Capital, 
which specialises in managing investments for 
domestic and international institutional investors in 
the life science sector. Prior to this Mr Gozlan was 
the biotech analyst for QIC, the largest Australian 
institutional investor in life sciences at the time.

In 2013 Mr Gozlan was appointed to the Board 
of AusBiotech Ltd, Australia’s main life sciences 
industry body.

Other current directorships of listed entities: 
Oncosil Medical Limited, Prana Biotechnology 
Limited

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: Telesso Technologies Limited

Nil ordinary shares in Phosphagenics Limited

1,000,000 options in Phosphagenics Limited

HARRY ROSEN BA, LLB

Executive Director

Appointed Managing Director December 2005*

Mr Rosen, as founding director of Phosphagenics 
Limited, has since 1999 been instrumental in the 
corporate and commercial development of the 
Company’s portfolio of patents based upon the 
patented TPM® drug delivery system.

Previously, Mr Rosen was one of the founders 
of Betatene Limited and Denehurst Limited, 
two formerly ASX listed companies which 
commercialised significant research and 
development. Betatene is the world’s largest 
producer of natural beta carotene. After the 
purchase of Betatene Limited by Henkel 
Corporation, Mr Rosen served as Vice President,

Corporate Development, where he worked 
for a number of years in the USA in the nutrition 
and health care industries.

Mr Rosen has consulted to many technology 
companies assisting them with the 
commercialisation of new technologies. He has 
had significant experience in the areas of seed 
capital raising, stock exchange listings, taxation 
and corporate law. 

* As Managing Director Mr Rosen has not been 
required to retire by rotation.

Other current directorships of listed entities: None

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: None

64,226,436 ordinary shares in Phosphagenics 
Limited

2,000,000 performance rights in Phosphagenics 
Limited

NATHAN DRONA MBA

Independent non-executive director (appointed 
28 February 2014)

Chairman of audit and risk committee

Member of remuneration and nomination 
committees

Mr Drona has had a 15 year career in international 
investment banking, most recently as Managing 
Director of Challiss in New York and Sydney.

Mr Drona has a strong background in corporate 
finance and has executed over 25 global banking 
and M&A engagements in biotech, medical 
devices and healthcare, leading to the award 
of “Pharmaceutical Buy-Side M&A Advisor of the 
Year” by Frost & Sullivan in 2005.

Other current directorships of listed entities: 
Alchemia Ltd

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: None

Nil ordinary shares in Phosphagenics Limited

1,000,000 options in Phosphagenics Limited
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DR GEERT CAUWENBERGH PhD

Independent non-executive director (appointed 
28 February 2014)

Chairman of nomination committee

Member of remuneration and audit and risk 
committees

Dr Cauwenbergh is very experienced in the life 
sciences sector, having started his career with 
Janssen Research Foundation in Belgium in 1979. 
He moved to the USA in 1994 to take up the role 
of Vice President Product Development for Johnson 
& Johnson. Subsequently he was appointed Global 
Vice President of R&D for Johnson & Johnson 
Consumer companies worldwide.

In 2001 Dr Cauwenbergh left Johnson & Johnson and 
founded Barrier Therapeutics, a company developing 
drugs to treat skin diseases. In 2008 Barrier 
Therapeutics was acquired by Stiefel Laboratories. 
At the time of acquisition the company’s annual 
revenues had reached approximately US$45 million.

Dr Cauwenbergh is currently President and CEO 
of NASDAQ listed company RXi Pharmaceuticals. 
In this role he has guided RXi Pharmaceuticals 
through its initial public offering and helped it 
successfully prepare and submit its first US FDA 
Investigational New Drug Application.

Other current directorships of listed entities:  
RXi Pharmaceuticals Inc, Moberg Pharma AB

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: Ablynx NV

20,000 ordinary shares in Phosphagenics Limited

1,000,000 options in Phosphagenics Limited

Former Directors:

JONATHAN LANCELOT ADDISON  
BEc, ASIC, CFTP (Snr)

Independent non-executive director and Chairman 
until his resignation on 28 February 2014

Mr Addison has over 30 years in the investment 
management industry. He holds a number of board 
positions with both listed and unlisted companies 
in Australia, Africa, New Zealand and the UK.

Mr Addison was a member of the Company’s Audit, 
Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

Other current directorships of listed entities: 
Chairman Global Masters Funds Limited

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: None.

DON CLARKE LLB (Hon) 

Independent non-executive director until his 
resignation on 28 February 2014

Mr Clarke has been a partner of law firm Minter Ellison 
since 1988. He serves in the Melbourne Private Equity 
and Capital Markets Group, predominately advising 
ASX listed entities across a range of industries with 
emphasis on technology and manufacturing.

Mr Clarke was Chairman of the Company’s Audit, 
Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

Other current directorships: Deputy Chairman 
Webjet Limited

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: Circadian Technologies Limited

DR SANDRA WEBB BPharm, PhD, Dip Law

Independent non-executive director until her 
resignation on 28 February 2014

Dr Webb is an experienced biopharmaceutical 
professional and has a strong record of achievements 
in the commercial world of drug development. 

Dr Webb was a member of the Company’s Audit, 
Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: None

STUART JAMES BA (Hons)

Independent non-executive director until his 
resignation on 28 February 2014

Mr James held a number of high profile executive 
positions during his career and has extensive 
experience in the oil, health, pharmaceutical and 
financial services sectors.

Mr James was a member of the Company’s Audit, 
Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee.

Other current directorships: Chairman Pulse Health 
Limited, Chairman Greencross Ltd, Chairman Prime 
Financial Group Limited

Former directorships of listed entities in last 
3 years: Chairman Progen Limited.

Company Secretary 

Mr M Garbutt is the Company Secretary of the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

Mr Garbutt is a Fellow of Governance Institute of 
Australia (FGIA) and Chartered Institute of Secretaries 
(FCIS). He has over 30 years commercial experience 
and currently, through K R Corporate Compliance Pty 
Ltd (“KRCC”), conducts a corporate compliance and 
company secretarial company providing such support 
services to a number of public and listed companies in 
Australia including the Phosphagenics Limited group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)
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Principal Activities 

The principle activities of the Company are 
the production, sale and licensing of products 
incorporating its patented platform technology, 
TPM®, for the pharmaceutical, cosmetics and 
animal health industries.

Result

The financial report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2014, and the results herein, have 
been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.

The consolidated loss after income tax attributable 
to ordinary shareholders for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2014 was $8,935,000 (2013: 
$12,607,000). The net operating cash outflow 
for the year was $6,739,000 (2013: $8,578,000), 
with a cash balance at 31 December 2014 of 
$20,679,000 (2014: $8,823,000).

Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared during the period 
and no dividends are recommended in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2014.

Review of Operations

At the end of December 2014, the Company held 
$20.7 million in cash and cash equivalents (2013: 
$8.8 million). The Company expects it will receive 
a further amount of $2.5 million from the R& D tax 
incentive scheme before the end of the second 
quarter of 2015. 

In July 2014, the Company raised $19.3 million 
via an institutional and sophisticated investor 
placement as well as a share placement plan. 
Those funds are being primarily are earmarked for 
the opioid patch clinical program.

Revenues from continuing operations for the 
reporting year total $2.5 million (2013: $1.4 million). 
The overwhelming contributor was the sales of 
Vital ET by the Company’s partner Ashland, which 
amounted to approximately $1.5 million (compared 
to less than $0.3 million in 2013). 

Revenues from BioElixia® of $0.4 million (2013: $0.8 
million) are reported in the results for discontinued 
operations. The reasons for the fall in revenues are 
in the main due to decreased marketing expenditure 
and the loss of TVSN promotion of the Company’s 
products. While the revenue was lower, so too was 
the loss incurred due predominantly to the reduction 
in marketing costs. As announced the Company has 
decided to place the BioElixia® brand up for sale.

On the expenses side the variation in costs from 
the previous year were mainly due to a reduction in 
consultancy fees which fell from $2.4 to $0.8 million, 
reflecting both the drop in legal costs associated 

the recoveries of misappropriated money and the 
finalisation of the project undertaken by Neura. The 
write back of a provision for Le Metier royalties and 
minimal provisions for obsolete stock contributed to 
the $0.8 million reduction in other expenses.

Looking at the continuing operations the revenues 
were up by over 200%.

Earnings per share 

 2014 2013
Basic loss per share ($0.0080) ($0.0124)
Diluted loss per share ($0.0080) ($0.0124)

Research & Development 

The clinical program in 2014 focussed on the 
opioid patch programs with the prime undertaking 
being the technology transfer and scale-up of the 
patches to a US manufacturer. This was required 
ahead of engaging with the FDA and/or the start 
of further clinical trials in 2015. 

For the TPM®/Oxycodone patch the main steps 
were finalisation of the clinical trial design and 
technical transfer of the process to manufacture 
patches to the Company’s GMP manufacturer. 
The TPM®/Oxycodone patch Phase 2 trial began in 
February 2015 in Australia. It is a proof of concept 
study examining the use of an oxycodone patch 
for the relief of local pain in post-herpetic neuralgia 
(PHN). Topical delivery via the TPM®/Oxycodone 
patch allows oxycodone to interact with opioid 
receptors in the skin that may be upregulated in 
response to PHN, enabling effective pain relief. 

Previously the Company demonstrated that 
topical TPM®/Oxycodone can provide local pain 
relief in an animal study that was conducted at 
the University of Queensland. This work has 
been submitted for peer review and publication. 
The TPM®/Oxycodone Phase 2a trial being 
conducted on patients suffering from PHN should 
be completed early in the 2nd half of 2015. 

Considerable progress has also been made with 
the TPM®/Oxymorphone patch in preparation 
for further studies in Australia, lodgement 
of a US Investigational New Drug (IND) and 
a US Phase 2 trial as soon as practical after 
approval of the IND. In 2014 Phosphagenics 
completed a Phase 1 human trial demonstrating 
that the TPM®/Oxymorphone patch delivered 
similar concentrations of oxymorphone into the 
blood to those reported by Opana® ER (Endo 
Pharmaceuticals), an existing oral oxymorphone 
product. The result corroborated an earlier study 
conducted in 2013 and increased the number of 
subjects exposed to the product (total n=27) while 
confirming reproducibility of the patch. The TPM®/
Oxymorphone patch is about to undergo 
toxicology studies in the US, which will form an 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)
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integral part of the IND. The data requirements for 
a US IND are complex and take time to complete, 
especially for a novel transdermal application. 

In October 2014, Phosphagenics also announced 
the completion of a clinical trial with the TPM®/
Tretinoin. In this Phase 2a trial TPM®/Tretinoin 
compared favourably with Retin A with respect 
to acne reduction, with potential advantages 
of reducing the irritation and the common side 
effects associated with the use of tretinoin.

Phosphagenics also advanced its animal health 
products in 2014. In a trial conducted with Integrated 
Animal Health Pty Ltd (IAH), the Company tested the 
safety and efficiency of its topical TPM®/Oxycodone 
patch in a small trial of six racehorses horses 
suffering from cannon bone injury (shin soreness). 
All horses demonstrated pain relief within 48 hours 
of application with five of the six achieving it within 
24 hours. This trial demonstrated the attractiveness 
of the topical product for the animal health market 
and also provided another trial demonstrating the 
efficacy of TPM®/Oxycodone in reducing localised 
pain with little systemic exposure.

Commercial Developments 

January 2014 saw the launch in India of two 
Phosphagenics formulated diclofenac gel products, 
Instanac® TPM manufactured and sold by Themis, 
and Voveran® TPM sold by Novartis. This was a major 
commercial milestone for Phosphagenics as this 
marked the first sales of pharmaceutical products 
formulated with Phosphagenics TPM® and provided 
market validation of TPM® in the eyes of potential 
partners and consumers. Multiple reorders of TPM® 
occurred throughout the year indicating product 
growth although royalty income remains modest due 
to the low price point of products in the Indian market. 
Feedback from physicians and consumers has been 
positive and underpins an expectation of increased 
sales in 2015. Voveran® TPM packaging includes an 
insert indicating that TPM® had been compared to 
other diclofenac gels (including Novartis’ own product) 
and provided superior delivery. The Company remains 
confident that the diclofenac gel will be expanded into 
regions beyond India.

Sales of animal health products containing TPM® 
got a boost in Australia and New Zealand in 2014 
with expansion of partner’s marketing capabilities. 
Interest remains high and sales are increasing, in 
particular into the dairy industry. Total revenues 
from this source remain small but are growing.

Phosphagenics continued its business 
development efforts in 2014 to find regional 
or global partners to commercialise the various 
products which have been supported by proof 
of concept studies.

Phosphagenics was pleased to see stronger than 
expected revenue from Ashland, its distributor of 
Vital ET®, a raw ingredient used in many consumer 
skin care products. Whilst the revenues from this 
source have been somewhat volatile the Company 
believes that last year’s record levels will be 
maintained in 2015. During the year over 22 tonnes 
of the product was sold to the Company’s distributor.

In February, Phosphagenics announced the decision 
to sell its branded cosmetics division. Phosphagenics 
has received a number of expressions of interest. 
The sale only relates to Phosphagenics own brand 
and associated products. The Company’s ongoing 
strategy for consumer skin care is to retain the rights 
to licence TPM® for use in cosmetics/cosmeceuticals 
under certain conditions. The arrangements with 
GNC have been terminated and the Company will 
likely change its arrangements with Korean Drug 
Company as it no longer intends to manufacture 
products for third parties. Licencing arrangements 
with Le Metiér de Beauté remain unchanged.

Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstances, 
other than those referred to in the financial 
statements or notes thereto, that have arisen 
since the end of the financial year, that have 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the operations of the consolidated entity, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs 
of the consolidated entity in future financial years.

Business Strategy and Future 
Developments

Phosphagenics remains focussed on optimising 
the value of its primary projects, the opioid patch 
programs. The process of developing a novel 
formulation platform is never easy or straight 
forward and ensuring that no preliminary steps 
are missed can take longer than expected. The 
Company believes that it will reach a significant 
milestone in 2015 with the lodgement of a US IND 
for TPM®/Oxymorphone patch allowing it to move 
forward with a US Phase 2 trial soon after.

Although the pain patch products will receive most 
of the Company’s attention in 2015, it is important 
to note that Phosphagenics has a number of other 
TPM® formulation products showing impressive 
preliminary results. These include formulations for 
dermal application, formulated diclofenac products, 
injectables and animal health application. These 
are not only potential licensing candidates in their 
own right but also provide potential partners with 
validation that the TPM® platform can be applied 
to a variety of existing and development stage 
products. There are numerous discussions across 
a range of these opportunities ongoing and we 
have a high expectation that some of these may 
result in partnership deals in 2015.
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Material Business Risks 

Phosphagenics is in the biotechnology and 
pharmaceutical sectors. It undertakes both research 
and development, which by its nature is high-risk. 
The group is subject to normal business risks, 
including but not limited to government policies, 
exchange rate fluctuations, labour market conditions 
and other factors which are outside the control of the 
Board and management. Material risks specific to the 
group include, but are not limited to:

- Technical and clinical – product development 
requires a high level of scientific investigation, 
the outcomes of which cannot be known 
beforehand. Activities are experimental in nature 
so risk of failure or delay is a real possibility. 
Key activities, such as product manufacture, 
preclinical testing and clinical trials, are 
outsourced to specialist contract organisations, 
where there are risks in managing performance, 
costs, timelines and quality outcomes.

- Regulatory – products and their safety data may 
not be approved by the regulatory agency (FDA) 
to proceed to next stage of clinical development.

- Financial – the group does not receive sufficient 
income to cover its operating expenses. 
Although there are sufficient current cash 
reserves, there is no certainty that additional 
capital funding will not be required and there is 
no certainty that capital funding will be available.

- Intellectual Property – the group needs to ensure 
it operates without infringing other patents and 
also ensure it adequately protects its own existing 
patents and new experimental outcomes. 

- Commercialisation – the company’s strategy 
is to partner with large and medium sized 
pharmaceutical and/or specialty pain 
companies to finalise and market its products. 
There are risks in establishing and maintaining 
these relationships and in the manner in which 
the partners execute the agreements.

- Key personnel – the execution of the 
company’s development plan relies on key 
personnel of its scientific teams. The ability 
to retain and attract these personnel is critical.

- R&D Incentives – the company is eligible for 
cash rebates of its research and development 
programs, which are subject to changes in 
government policy.

Legal 

The company is in an arbitration process with 
a commercial partner relating to a dispute 
regarding claims for breach of the operative 
agreements. The commercial partner is seeking 
unspecified damages. The company is also 
seeking unspecified damages. Both parties are 

defending the claims. The matter is proceeding 
through a formal arbitration process which is 
expected to last several months.

Health and Safety 

The Board, CEO and senior management 
team are committed to creating a positive 
environment for the health and wellbeing 
of our employees and anyone affected by our 
operations, including contractors and visitors. 
The company has adopted a Health and Safety 
Policy and has established a Health and Safety 
Steering (HSS) committee structure as part of its 
overall framework. The HSS committee, which 
includes representatives of management and 
employees from each operational area, is a 
forum for management and employees to consult 
and monitor health and safety matters. The HSS 
committee meets regularly throughout the year.

Environmental Regulations 

The Company is registered with relevant 
authorities to use certain compounds in the 
manufacture of goods. All waste chemicals are 
disposed of using accredited service providers 
with notification to the relevant authorities.

The Company is not aware of any material 
breaches of any environmental regulations.

Directors Meetings 

The number of meetings of the Company’s board 
of directors and of each committee held during 
the year and the number of meetings attended by 
each director were:

 Board Audit 
  and Nomin Remun 
  Risk -ation -eration

J Addison 1 of 1 1 of 1 - -

D Clarke 1 of 1 1 of 1 - -

S James 1 of 1 0 of 1 - -

S Webb 1 of 1 1 of 1 - -

L Gozlan 11 of 11 4 of 4 2 of 2 1 of 1

N Drona 11 of 11 4 of 4 2 of 2 1 of 1

G Cauwenbergh 11 of 11 4 of 4 2 of 2 1 of 1

H Rosen 12 of 12 - - -

The table above illustrates the number of meetings 
attended compared with the number of meetings 
held during the period that the director was in 
office or was a member of the committee.

On 11 March 2014 the board resolved to establish 
separate committees for remuneration and 
nomination. Prior to this time these functions were 
performed by the full board.

Mr Gozlan undertook the role of acting chairman of 
the nomination committee for the May 2014 meeting.
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The remuneration report sets out remuneration 
information for non-executive directors, executive 
directors and other key management personnel 
of the group.

The report contains the following sections:

(a)  Key management personnel disclosed 
in this report

(b) Remuneration governance

(c) Use of remuneration consultants

(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework

(e)  Relationship between remuneration and 
Phosphagenics Limited’s performance

(f) Performance review and development

(g) Non-executive director remuneration policy

(h)  Voting and comments made at the company’s 
2014 Annual General Meeting

(i) Details of remuneration

( j) Service agreements

(k)  Details of share-based compensation and 
bonuses

(l)  Equity instruments held by key management 
personnel

(a)  Details of Key Management 
Personnel

Non-executive and executive directors  
(see pages 1 to 2 for details about each director)

L Gozlan (from 28 February 2014)

N Drona  (from 28 February 2014)

G Cauwenbergh (from 28 February 2014)

H Rosen 

J Addison  (until 28 February 2014)

D Clarke (until 28 February 2014)

S Webb (until 28 February 2014)

Other Key Management Personnel 
Name Position

J Amon  VP, Product Development  
(from 17 November 2014)

P Gavin Chief Scientific Officer 

A Legg Chief Financial Officer

J Rosen General Counsel

A Stojanovic  VP, Business Development  
and Commercial Operations  
(from 14 February 2014)

Changes since the end of reporting period 
R Murdoch was appointed Chief Executive Officer 
on 14 January 2015.

(b) Remuneration Governance 

The remuneration committee, currently consisting 
of three independent non-executive directors, 
advises the Board on remuneration policies and 
practices generally, including key management 
personnel, and makes specific recommendations 
on remuneration packages and other terms of 
employment for non-executive directors and 
executive directors. The objective of the company’s 
remuneration policies is to attract and retain the 
highest calibre of employee whilst promoting and 
rewarding workplace culture and contributions 
to company performance. The framework 
balances employee reward with achievement of 
strategic objectives and the creation of value for 
shareholders.

(c)  Use of remuneration consultants

If remuneration consultants are to be engaged 
to provide remuneration recommendations as 
defined in section 9B of the Corporations Act 2001, 
then they are engaged by, and report directly to, 
the remuneration committee. No remuneration 
consultants were engaged to provide remuneration 
services during the financial year. 

(d)  Executive remuneration policy and 
framework

In determining executive remuneration, the board 
aims to ensure that the remuneration practices are:

- Competitive and reasonable, enabling the 
company to attract and retain key talent

- Aligned to the company’s strategic and 
business operatives and creation of 
shareholder value

- Transparent and easily understood

- Acceptable to shareholders.

The executive remuneration framework has three 
components:

- Base pay and benefits

- Short-term incentives (including equity 
component)

- Long-term incentives through participation in 
Phosphagenics Employee Conditional Rights 
Scheme

A combination of these components comprises 
an executive’s total remuneration, with base pay 
and benefits at an appropriate level to competitive 
market benchmarks.
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(i) Base pay and benefits 

Australian based executives receive their base pay 
and benefits structured as a Total Remuneration 
Package (TRP) which may be delivered as 
a combination of cash and prescribed non-
financial benefits at the executive’s discretion. 
Superannuation is included in the TRP.

US based executives receive their base pay 
and in addition non-financial benefits of health 
and dental insurance. Phosphagenics has also 
established a defined contributions pension plan 
(401(k)) for all its US employees and contributes 
under Safe Harbour matching contributions to 
a maximum of 4% or US$8,500 per annum.

There are no guaranteed base pay increases in 
any executives’ contracts. 

(ii) Short term incentives

In December 2014 the board approved the Short 
Term Incentive Program for all employees to 
reward for achievement of defined company and 
agreed individual performance expectations for 
12 months ending 31 December each year.

In its first year, the incentive will be applied on 
a pro-rata basis for the period 1 July 2014 to 
31 December 2014.

The available bonus will comprise:

- 33.3% corporate component based on 
organisational targets set and assessed 
annually by the board. In 2014 this component 
was not set. In 2015 this component will be 
set by the Board in March 2015 and align with 
the overall strategic goals primarily related to 
milestones of the pain patch projects.

- 33.3% individual key performance targets 
set at beginning of each year, aligning with 
corporate with organisational targets as well 
as team and personal targets, the achievement 
of which will be assessed by the employee’s 
immediate manager.

- 33.3% individual constructive behaviours as 
assessed by the employee’s immediate manager.

The bonus outcomes are discretionary and will be 
based on performance criteria outlined above, the 
overall health of the business and other factors 
which may arise.

Eligible executives can receive up to 10% of 
their fixed base salary, as at June each year, as a 
bonus should they meet expected KPIs and up to 
20% if KPI targets are exceeded. In 2014 eligible 
executives are eligible for a maximum of 6.6% of 
their base salary.

The bonus will be paid in March of each year, 
following the financial year end, in the form of 50% 
cash and 50% shares.

A Stojanovic and J Rosen are under separate contracts 
and are entitled to a discretionary annual cash bonus of 
up to 20% of base pay or other agreed amount based 
on achieving KPI targets set by February of each year.

No bonuses were paid in 2014. The total bonus 
pool provided for 2014 performance is $72,000, 
however the individual allocation to eligible 
executives has not yet been determined.

(iii) Long term incentives 

Long-term incentives are provided via the 
Phosphagenics’ Employee Conditional Rights 
Scheme (ECRS), which was approved by 
shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting. 

The Phosphagenics’ ECRS is designed to reward 
staff in a manner that aligns remuneration with the 
creation of shareholder wealth and to ensure that all 
staff, including executives, views their relationship 
with the Group as a long-term one. As such the long 
term incentive plan has been offered to all staff who 
met the minimum service criteria.

The ECRS allows eligible employees to be granted 
Performance Rights to acquire Shares at no cost. 
All employees, including executive and non-
executive directors, and any individual whom the 
board determines to be an eligible participant 
for the purposes of the scheme, are eligible to 
participate in the scheme.

The scheme will be administered by the board, 
with all objectives, determinations, approvals 
or opinions made or given by the board in its 
absolute discretion.

Employee Conditional Rights Scheme 
approved 31 May 2011 (ECRS Scheme 1)

Under the terms of the ECRS, the rights will vest 
if certain non-market or market conditions are 
fulfilled. One of the key overriding conditions of 
the Scheme is that if the 10 day Volume Weighted 
Average Price (VWAP) is not less than $0.35 at any 
time prior to 31 December 2014, then 100% of the 
Performance Rights will vest. The VWAP price was 
not met and all shares remain unvested.

Alternatively, vesting of the Rights is conditional on 
Phosphagenics achieving the following conditions:

Milestone 1 (16.5% of Rights awarded if achieved 
by 30 Jun 2012) - Completion of recruitment for the 
clinical trial of the oxycodone patch, Submission 
of an IND for the oxycodone patch, and gross 
revenues from global sales of all non-prescription 
products of the company of not less than 
$10 million. Rights relating to Milestone 1 remain 
unvested as this milestone was not achieved.

Milestone 2 (16.5% of Rights awarded if any 
two of the following achieved by 31 Dec 2013) - 
Completion of the clinical trial of the oxycodone 
patch on time and on budget and the Board 
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determines to continue the development and 
commercialisation of the patch, gross revenues 
from the commercialisation of the company’s 
TPM® technology for use in or in connection with 
dermatology products of not less than $1 million, 
and gross revenues from global sales of all non-
prescription products of the company of not less than 
$20 million. Rights relating to Milestone 2 remain 
unvested as this milestone was not achieved.

Milestone 3 (34% of Rights awarded if any two of the 
following achieved by 31 Dec 2014) - Completion 
of all pivotal human clinical trials of the oxycodone 
patch, gross revenues from the commercialisation 
of the company’s TPM® technology for use in or in 
connection with the dermatology products of not less 
than $2 million, and gross revenues from global sales 
of all non-prescription products of the company of not 
less than $30 million. Rights relating to Milestone 3 
remain unvested as this milestone was not achieved.

Milestone 4 (34% of Rights awarded if either of 
the following achieved by 31 Dec 2015) - NDA (or 
equivalent) registration of the oxycodone patch or 
commercial agreement for the marketing and sale 
of the oxycodone patch, or gross revenues from 
global sales of all non-prescription products of the 
company of not less than A$40 million.

(e)  Relationship between remuneration 
and Phosphagenics Limited’s 
performance

The company’s remuneration policies align 
executive reward with the interests of shareholders. 
The main focus is on growth in shareholder value 
through achievement of research and development 
milestones as well as commercial milestones. Typical 
of companies in this biotech sector, performance goals 
are not necessarily linked to commercial performance 
measures. Remuneration is set based on both short 
term and long term key performance indicators (KPIs) 
as outlined in sections (ii) and (iii) as well as other 
factors such as benchmarking, overall performance, 
behaviours and the company’s ability to pay.

The following chart shows the Company’s annual 
revenues (2013 and 2014 from continuing operations) 
and year end share price over the five-year period 
from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2014.

(f)  Performance review and 
development

All staff, including executives, participate 
in a formal bi-annual performance review 
and development process. Establishment of 
objectives, setting KPIs and planning relevant 
staff development are documented and agreed 
at the beginning of the year. All staff have monthly 
one-on-one sessions to monitor progress toward 
obejctives. A formal half-year review occurs, the 
outcome of which contributes to the annual salary 
review. The full-year review contributes to the 
award of short-term incentives.

(g)  Non-executive director 
remuneration policy

On appointment to the Board, all non-executive 
directors were given a letter of offer that 
summarised the proposed remuneration, relevant 
to the office of director. Non-executive directors 
receive a Board fee and fees for chairing Board 
committees, see table below.

Annual Director’s Fees

From 1 
March 2014  

($)

Until 1 
March 2014  

($)

Board Chair 110,000 61,365

Base fee non-executive  
directors

55,000 42,945

Chair of audit and risk 
committee (per meeting)

5,000 -

Chair of remuneration 
committee (per meeting)

2,500 -

Chair of nomination 
committee (per meeting)

2,500 -

Non-executive director’s fees are reviewed 
annually by the board. Non-executive fees were 
increased from 1 March 2014, with the previous 
increase occurring from 1 March 2013. Fees and 
payments are determined within an aggregate 
non-executive director’s pool limit approved by 
shareholders. The aggregate currently stands at 
$400,000 and was approved by shareholders at 
2014 Annual General Meeting. This amount, or part 
thereof, is divided among non-executive directors 
as determined by the board and reflecting 
time and responsibility related to the board 
and committees. The aggregate paid to non-
executive directors was $316,596 (2013 $189,084). 
Directors fees include statutory superannuation 
contributions as required under Australian 
superannuation guarantee legislation.

Dr Cauwenbergh elected not to receive any 
fees for his role as chairman of the nomination 
committee in 2014.
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A special fee of $2,500 per day was awarded 
by the remuneration committee to Mr Gozlan to 
compensate him for his time committed during the 
2014 capital raising. Mr Gozlan received a total 
of $80,000 (inclusive of superannuation). Under 
the company’s constitution this amount forms part 
of the director pool limit and has been included 
in cash salary and fees component in i) Detail of 
remuneration table.

The non-executive directors do not receive 
retirement benefits nor do they participate in any 
short term incentive programs. Non-executive 
directors are entitled to participate in the long 
term incentive scheme as detailed in the Executive 
remuneration section.

Non-executive directors were each awarded 
1,000,000 non-quoted share options with 
a strike price of $0.17 which was approved by 
shareholders at the 2014 Annual General Meeting. 
The options have an expiry date of five years.

(h)  Voting and comments made at the 
Company’s 2014 Annual General 
Meeting

Phosphagenics received more than 92% of “yes” 
votes on its remuneration report for the 2013 
financial year. The company did not receive any 
specific feedback at the Annual General Meeting 
or throughout the year on its remuneration policies.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONT.)
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(i) Details of remuneration

The following tables show details of the remuneration received by the group’s key management 
personnel for the current and previous financial year.

2014

Short-term 
employee 
benefits

Post- 
employ-

ment 
benefits

Long- 
term 

benefits

Share 
based 

payment

Cash 
salary & 

fees  
$

Cash 
Bonus*** 

$

Non- 
monetary 
benefits 

$

Super-
annuation 

$

Annual 
and long 
service 
leave 

$
Options 

$

Perform-
ance 

rights** 
$

Total 
$

Non executive directors

J Addison 1 9,383 - - 868 - - (38,197) (27,946)

D Clarke 1 6,567 - - 607 - - (17,819) (10,645)

S James 1 7,000 - - - - - (17,819) (10,819)

S Webb 1 6,567 - - 607 - - (17,819) (10,645)

L Gozlan 2 164,955 - - 11,713 - 30,000 - 206,668

N Drona 2 62,500 - - - - 30,000 - 92,500

G Cauwenbergh 2 45,830 - - - - 30,000 - 75,830

Sub-total non-executive 
directors

302,801 - - 13,795 - 90,000 (91,654) 314,942

Executive directors

H Rosen 285,182 - 1,490 26,558 28,798 - 38,179 380,207

Other key management personnel

J Amon 3 24,470 - - 2,325 1,904 - - 28,699

P Gavin 200,013 - - 18,751 24,764 - 21,539 265,067

A Legg 5 166,179 - - 15,574 13,671 - 12,923 208,347

J Rosen 244,746 - 9,627 1,719 20,198 - 35,635 311,925

A Stojanovic 4 229,561 - 17,991 7,018 17,708 - - 272,278

Total 1,452,952 - 29,108 85,740 107,043 90,000 16,622 1,781,465

1 Resigned 28 February 2014
2 Appointed 28 February 2014
3 Appointed 17 November 2014
4 Appointed 14 February 2014

** Remuneration in the form of performance rights includes negative amounts for rights forfeited during the year.

*** Bonus allocation is yet to be determined. See note dii) of the Remuneration Report
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2013

Short-term 
employee 
benefits

Post- 
employ-

ment 
benefits

Long- 
term 

benefits

Share 
based 

payment

Cash 
salary & 

fees  
$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non- 
monetary 
benefits 

$

Super-
annuation 

$

Annual 
and long 
service 
leave 

$
Options 

$

Perform-
ance 

rights** 
$

Total 
$

Non executive directors

J Addison 56,091 - - 5,119 - - 14,304 75,514

D Clarke 39,255 - - 3,582 - - 6,682 49,519

S James 42,200 - - - - - 6,682 48,882

S Webb 39,255 - - 3,582 - - 6,682 49,919

Sub-total non-executive 
directors

176,801 - - 12,283 - - 34,350 223,434

Executive directors

H Rosen 1 # 412,562 - 15,127 - 2,896 - 38,184 482,030

E Ogru 2 137,615 - - 12,385 (12,306) - (63,636) 72,999

Other key management personnel

H Alsop 3 50,203 - - 4,518 2,933 - - 29,018

D Butala 150,646 5,000 - 14,202 17,114 - 21,538 208,500

M El-Tamimy 135,000 10,000 - 13,225 23,396 - 21,538 203,159

P Gavin 157,584 10,000 - 15,287 26,966 - 21,538 231,375

S Kinrade 4 80,166 - - 7,363 5,059 - - 92,588

A Legg 5 130,175 15,000 - 13,311 9,854 - 1,077 169,417

G Moses 150,997 - - 13,780 11,871 - 769 177,417

J Rosen # 204,228 - 6,850 - 15,709 - 35,635 262,422

Total 1,785,977 40,000 21,977 106,354 103,492 - 82,357 2,140,157

1 H Rosen was based in the US from 1 January 2013.
2 E Ogru resigned on 18 July 2013. The amount for forfeiture of performance rights has been restated.
3 H Alsop resigned on 8 March 2013.
4 S Kinrade commenced on 21 May 2013 and was made redundant on 8 October 2013.
5 A Legg commenced part time on 22 January 2013 and became full time on 1 July 2013
# Health care benefits were not previously disclosed in 2013. US employer taxes were incorrectly reported as superannuation and have been removed..

** Remuneration in the form of performance rights includes negative amounts for rights forfeited during the year.
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The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 
follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk – STI At risk - LTI

Name 2014 
%

2013 
%

2014 
%

2013 
%

2014 
%

2013 
%

Non executive directors

J Addison 100% 42% - - * *

D Clarke 100% 87% - - * *

S James 100% 86% - - * *

S Webb 100% 87% - - * *

L Gozlan 85% - - - 15% -

N Drona 68% - - - 32% -

G Cauwenbergh 60% - - - 40% -

Executive directors

H Rosen 1 90% 92% - - 10% 8%

Other key management personnel

J Amon 100% - - - - -

P Gavin 92% 87% - 4% 8% 9%

A Legg 5 93% 90% - 9% 7% 1%

J Rosen 89% 86% - - 11% 14%

A Stojanovic 100% - - - - -

* Percentage not disclosed as the total amount of LTI remuneration expense was negative for the relevant period
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( j) Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for 
the executives are formalised in service agreements, 
apart from H Rosen who does not have a written 
agreement, which include a position description 
and sets out duties, rights and responsibilities as 
well as entitlements on termination. The entitlement 
to participate in Phosphagenics Ltd Employee 
Conditional Rights Scheme is governed by the 
Scheme document and may not be specifically 
detailed in the service agreement.

Other major provisions of the agreement relating 
to remuneration are set out below for executives 
who are employed at the date of this report.

J Amon, VP Product Development
- (from 17 November 2014)

- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, per 
annum as at 31 December 2014 of $220,000, to be 
reviewed annually in line with company policies.

- Right to participate in the Short Term Incentive 
program at 20% of base salary.

- Right to participate in Phosphagenics Ltd 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme with 
a grant of minimum 1,000,000 rights.

- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 3 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company giving 3 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay his 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

P Gavin, Chief Scientific Officer
- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, per 
annum as at 31 December 2014 of $219,000.

- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 1 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company giving 1 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay his 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

A Legg, Chief Financial Officer
- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, per 
annum as at 31 December 2014 of $186,250.

- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 1 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company giving 1 months’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay her 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

J Rosen, General Counsel
- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary per annum as at 31 December 
2014 of US$237,500.

- Right to negotiate a short term incentive bonus 
after 12 months service.

- Right to participate in Phosphagenics Ltd 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme with 
a minimum grant of 500,000 rights.

- Provision of health and dental insurance 
for employee.

- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 30 days’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company giving 30 days’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay his 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

A Stojanovic, VP Business Development 
and Commercial Operations
- (from 14 February 2014)

- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary per annum as at 31 December 
2014 of US$237,500.

- A discretionary cash bonus up to 20% of base 
salary or other amount as agreed between the 
parties subject to fulfilment of performance 
criteria set by February each year.

- Right to participate in Phosphagenics Ltd 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme with 
a minimum grant of 1,000,000 rights.

- Provision of health and dental insurance for 
employee and 50% contribution towards costs 
of family cover.

- Matched contributions to company retirement 
plan to maximum value of US$8,500.

- Entitlement to severance pay of 33.3% of base 
pay if the company terminates employment due 
to sale or other disposition of all or substantially 
all of the company’s assets or business by way 
of merger, consolidation or spin-off.
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- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 14 days’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company giving 30 days’ notice 
in writing;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay his 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

H Rosen, President and Founder
- No service agreement.

- Base salary, inclusive of 9.5% superannuation, 
per annum as at 31 December 2014 of $312,252.

Where termination with cause occurs the executive 
is only entitled to that portion of remuneration that 
is fixed, and only up to the date of termination. 
On termination with cause, any unvested options 
or rights will immediately be forfeited.

R Murdoch, Chief Executive Officer
- (from 14 January 2015)

- No fixed term of agreement.

- Base salary, inclusive of 9.5% superannuation, per 
annum as at 14 January 2015 of $382,250, to be 
reviewed annually in line with company policies.

- Relocation allowance.

- Contribution towards closing out expenses 
of selling principal place of residence.

- Right to participate in the Short Term Incentive 
program, with bonus rate of up to 40% of base salary.

- Right to participate in Phosphagenics Ltd 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme with a 
grant of 15,000,000 rights. If eligibility to convert 
occurs under the share price crystallising at 
$0.25 prior to 31 December 2017 then vesting 
will occur in three equal tranches, with each 
portion vesting at each December providing 
the executive is still an employee at that time. 
If eligibility to convert occurs by achieving the 
established milestones then vesting will occur 
in line equally with other employees.

- Subject to termination at any time by 

 • The executive giving 3 months’ notice 
in writing within the first six months of 
employment, and six months’ notice 
thereafter;

 • The company giving 3 months’ notice 
in writing within the first six months of 
employment, and six months’ notice 
thereafter;

 • The company at any time without notice 
if the executive is guilty of serious 
misconduct, becomes unable to pay his 
debts as they become due or is found 
guilty by court of a criminal offence.

(k)  Details of share-based 
compensation and bonuses

Options Granted During the Year to Key 
Management Personnel 

On 23 May 2014, 3,000,000 (2013: Nil) options 
were awarded to the three non-executive directors 
at the annual general meeting. The issued options 
were valued at $0.03 each, are non-quoted, have 
a strike price of $0.17 and expiry date of five years. 
No options vested during the year.

Performance Rights Granted During the 
Year to Key Management Personnel 

Nil (2013: 1,200,000) ECRS Rights were awarded 
to key management personnel during the year, 
of which nil vested.

(l)  Equity instruments held by key 
management personnel

The tables on the following page show the 
number of:

(i) Options over ordinary shares in the company

(ii) Performance rights holdings granted under the 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme

(iii) Shares in the company

that were held during the financial year by key 
management personnel of the group, including their 
close family members and entities related to them.

There were no shares granted during the 
reporting period as compensation.
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(i) Option holdings

2014  
Name

Balance at 
start of year.

Granted as 
compensation Expired

Balance at 
end of year Vested

J Addison 1 - - - - -

D Clarke 1 - - - - -

S James 1 - - - - -

S Webb 1 - - - - -

L Gozlan 2 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

N Drona 2 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

G Cauwenbergh 2 - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

J Amon - - - - -

H Rosen - - - - -

P Gavin 300,000 - (300,000) - -

A Legg - - - - -

J Rosen - - - - -

A Stojanovic - - - - -

Totals 300,000 3,000,000 (300,000) 3,000,000 3,000,000

1 Resigned 28 February 2014
2 Appointed 28 February 2014

(ii) Performance rights holdings

2014

Balance 
at start of 

year  
No.

Award  
date

Awarded 
during the 

year  
No.

Fair value 
per option 

at award 
date

Other 
changes 

 
 No.

Balance at 
end of year  

 
No.

Not vested 
 

 No.

J Addison 1 750,000 31 May 2011 - $0.07 (750,000) - -

D Clarke 1 350,000 31 May 2011 - $0.07 (350,000) - -

S James 1 350,000 31 May 2011 - $0.07 (350,000) - -

S Webb 1 350,000 31 May 2011 - $0.07 (350,000) - -

L Gozlan 2 - - - - - - -

N Drona 2 - - - - - - -

G Cauwenbergh 2 - - - - - - -

H Rosen 2,000,000 31 May 2011 - $0.07 - 2,000,000 2,000,000

J Amon - - - - - - -

P Gavin 1,000,000 3 Oct 2011 - $0.07 - 1,000,000 1,000,000

A Legg 700,000 20 Dec 2013 - $0.02 - 700,000 700,000

J Rosen 700,000 1 Apr 2012 - $0.14 - 700,000 700,000

A Stojanovic - - - - - - -

Totals 6,200,000 - (1,800,000) 4,400,000 4,400,000

1 Resigned 28 February 2014
2 Appointed 28 February 2014

All performance rights granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance with the 
provisions of the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS).  All performance rights expire on 30 June 2016.

No performance rights have lapsed during the year. No performance rights vested or were exercised 
during the year. No performance rights were issued prior to 1 January 2011.

2,800,000 (2013: 4,200,000) performance rights were cancelled during the year in line with scheme terms 
in which rights are forfeited when personnel cease employment.
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(iii) Share holdings

2014 
Name

Balance at 
start of year

Received 
during year 

on exercise of 
option

Received 
vesting of 

rights to 
deferred 

shares

Other 
changes 

during the 
year

Balance at 
end of year

J Addison 1 22,473 - - (22,473) -

D Clarke 1 35,484 - - (35,484) -

S James 1 - - - - -

S Webb 1 - - - - -

L Gozlan 2 - - - - -

N Drona 2 - - - - -

G Cauwenbergh 2 - - - 20,000 20,000

H Rosen 64,391,436 - - - 64,391,436

J Amon - - - - -

P Gavin 99,000 - - - 99,000

A Legg 135,000 - - 131,500 266,500

J Rosen 2,000,068 - - - 2,000,068

A Stojanovic - - - 64,000 64,000

Totals 66,683,461 - - 157,543 66,841,004

1 Resigned 28 February 2014
2 Appointed 28 February 2014
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Share Options 
Share options convertible to ordinary shares on issue at the date of this report. All options are unquoted 
on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Issuing entity Shares under  
option No.

Exercise price $ Expiry date

Phosphagenics 3,000,000 $0.17 22 May 2019

Total 3,000,000

Rounding of Amounts 
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 
(where rounding is applicable and where noted ($’000)), under the option available to the company under 
ASIC Class Order 98/100. The company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

Indemnification of Officers & Auditors 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring its Directors and 
Officers against a liability, other than a wilful breach of duty, of a nature that is required to be disclosed under 
section 300(8) of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act). In accordance with section 300(9) of the Act, further 
details have not been disclosed due to confidentiality provisions contained in the insurance contract. 

Non-audit services
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined in note 6 to the financial 
statements.

Auditor’s independence declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 16 of the financial report.

Changes in State of Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity 
other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Lawrence Gozlan 
Chairman

26 February 2015 
Melbourne
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

This statement summaries the corporate governance policies and procedures adopted by the 
Phosphagenics’ board of directors (“Board”) and discloses the extent to which the Company has followed 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations 
(“ASX Principles”) during and since the reporting period. The Board aims to ensure the Company operates 
with a corporate governance framework and culture that is relevant, practical and cost effective for the 
current size and stage of development of the business.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Relationship between Board and Management

The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the group’s long term success. 
The board acts in the best interests of the Company as a whole and is accountable to shareholders for the 
overall direction, management and corporate governance of the Company and the Group.

Responsibilities of the Board

The responsibilities of the Board are outlined in the Board Charter. The responsibilities of the Board include:

(a) Strategic Issues

 - Approving management’s corporate strategy and performance objectives;

 - Providing strategic advice to management;

 -  Monitoring performance and implementation of strategy and ensuring appropriate resources 
are available.

(b) Shareholding items

 - Issuing shares, options or conditional rights;

 - Determining the amount of dividend.

(c) Financial items

 - Approving and monitoring financial and other reporting;

 -  Approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, 
acquisitions and divestitures;

 - Reporting to shareholders.

(d) Risk and control

 - Overseeing groups control and accountability system;

 -  Reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management, internal compliance and control, and legal 
compliance to ensure appropriate compliance frameworks are in place.

(e) Board and senior management

 - Appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of CEO;

 - Ratifying appointment and, where appropriate, removal of CFO and Company Secretary;

 -  Ratifying other senior executive appointments, organisational changes and senior management 
remuneration policies and practices;

 - Approving succession plans for management;

 - Monitoring performance of the board both collectively and individually;

 - Recommending directors for nomination and removal.

(f ) Other Board responsibilities

 - Monitoring and ensuring compliance with best practice corporate governance requirements;

 - Approving board committee charters;

Responsibilities of the CEO

Responsibility for day to day management and administration of the Group is delegated by the board 
to the chief executive officer and the executive team. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) manages the 
Group in accordance with the strategy, plans and policies approved by the board.



PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT    2014 43

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.)

CEO and Senior Executive Performance

A new performance management system was introduced from July 2014, prior to this annual assessments 
were undertaken at December each year. The first performance assessment under this new system 
was undertaken in February 2015. The full process for performance management is described in the 
Remuneration Report under f) Performance review and development on page 32 of this report.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value
The Board seeks to achieve a mix of skills and diversity that it enables it to most effectively carry out its 
functions and responsibilities. The Board has four members, as set out in the table below. Details of the 
relevant skills, experience and expertise of each Board member are set out on page 25 of this report.

Appointed Role Independent Committees

L Gozlan 28 February 2014 Chairman Yes Audit and Risk, 
Remuneration, 
Nomination

G Cauwenbergh 28 February 2014 Non-executive 
director 

Yes Audit and Risk, 
Remuneration, 
Nomination

N Drona 28 February 2014 Non-executive 
director

Yes Audit and Risk, 
Remuneration, 
Nomination

H Rosen June 1999 Managing Director No

Board composition

The company’s Constitution provides for the appointment of a minimum of three directors and a maximum 
of eight. In accordance with current practice, the Board Charter requires a majority of directors to 
be independent.

The company aims to ensure that the board has a mix of characteristics, skills, diversity, and experience 
relevant to the business and associated business risks of Phosphagenics. The Company is also keenly 
aware of the role diversity plays in the success of our society and intends to strive in the years ahead 
to develop the Board composition to be a reflection of that diversity. Similar to any other biotechnology 
growth company, our ideal board is not dictated by a formula but is driven by the particular and current 
and medium-term needs of our organization. We continue to strive for a board that has a balanced 
membership encompassing strategic, financial, commercial, operational, and governance competencies 
that can help guide the company to build shareholder value going forward.

Directors’ independence

An independent director must be independent of management, be free of any business or other 
relationship and otherwise meet the criteria for independence set out in the ASX Principles.

Under these criteria the Board has determined that all non-executive directors, which form a majority 
of the board, were independent at the date of this report.

The Board assesses the independence of directors as and when required.

Term in office

The company’s Constitution specifies that all non-executive directors must retire from office no later than 
the third annual general meeting following their last election, and that one third of non-executive directors 
(or nearest to one third) retire at every annual general meeting and be eligible for re-election.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring directors are properly briefed in all matters 
relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions and managing the Board’s 
relationship with the company’s senior executives. The Board has set out its reserved functions, as 
detailed in Principal 1, and delegated to the CEO the day to day business operations in accordance with 
the strategic objectives as approved by the Board.

The current Chairman, Mr Gozlan, is an independent non-executive director appointed in 2014. The CEO, 
Mr Rosen, was appointed as director in 1999 and as CEO in 2005. Mr Rosen announced his intention to 
step-down as CEO at the 2014 AGM and on 14 January 2015 Dr Murdoch was appointed CEO.

In accordance with current practice, the Board Charter requires the role of Chairman and CEO to be separate.

Independent professional advice

Directors and Board committees have the right to seek any independent professional advice they consider 
necessary to fulfil their responsibilities and in order to exercise independent judgement. Subject to consent 
by the Chairman, which will not be unreasonable withheld, the company will pay the director’s costs.

Nomination committee

The Board established the nomination committee in March 2014 and is composed of three directors, the 
majority independent, and is chaired by an independent director. Previously the function of the nomination 
committee was undertaken by the full Board. At the date of this report the committee consisted of the 
following members:

 Dr G Cauwenbergh (Chairman)

 Mr L Gozlan

 Mr N Drona

Details of these directors’ attendance at committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report on page 29.

A charter for the nomination committee was approved by the Board in February 2015. The charter of the 
nomination committee is to:

- develop criteria for board membership and identify specific individuals for nomination;

- establish processes for review of performance of individual directors and the board as a whole;

-  setting and reviewing on an annual basis measurable objectives for diversity and monitoring 
implementation plans;

- reviewing company’s succession planning of the board, CEO and senior management.

The committee is developing a skills matrix, setting out the mix of skills and diversity the Board is looking 
to achieve in its membership. The nomination committee will use this matrix to identify a list of candidates 
with appropriate skills and experience. The committee will make recommendations to the Board on 
candidates it considers appropriate for appointment. A candidate may be interviewed by all Board 
members. In 2014, three new directors were appointed to the Board in February and approved by the 
shareholders at the May annual general meeting. In 2014 the committee continued its search for new 
potential candidates whilst the Board focused on the recruitment of the CEO.

When an existing director is required to stand for re-election, the nomination committee also reviews 
the range of skills, experience and expertise on the Board.

Performance assessment

The Board undertakes an annual self-assessment of its performance using a questionnaire. Each director 
is asked to consider matters such as strategies, reporting and control, management, board meetings and 
the composition and functioning of the board. The questionnaires are collated by the company secretary 
and reviewed by Chairman of the Board. The outcomes and recommendations are discussed by the Board.

The Board undertook its performance assessment in February 2015 conducted in accordance with 
these procedures.
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Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making

Code of Conduct

The directors are committed to making positive economic, social and environmental contributions, while 
complying with all applicable laws and regulations and acting in a manner that is consistent with the 
principals of honesty, integrity, fairness and respect. The company has established a code of conduct to 
establish clear standards against which to guide decision making and hold itself accountable. The code 
provides a set of guiding principles covering employment practices, responsibility to shareholders and 
financial markets, equal opportunity, harassment and bullying, conflicts of interest, use of company resources 
and disclosure of confidential information. The code of conduct is available on the Company’s website.

Diversity Policy

The company recognises the value contributed to the organisation by employing people with varying skills, 
cultural backgrounds, ethnicity and experience. The company believes its diverse workforce is the key to 
continued growth and improved productivity and performance. The company actively values and embraces 
diversity of its employees and is committed to creating an inclusive workplace where everyone is treated 
equally and fairly, and where discrimination, harassment and inequality are not tolerated. While the company 
is committed to fostering diversity at all levels, gender diversity continues to be a priority for the group.

In May 2011 the Board approved a Diversity Policy which outlined the measurable objectives for achieving 
diversity. This policy was updated in February 2015 and is available on the company’s website.

In 2014 the objectives for diversity were measurement of gender diversity and continuation of promotion 
of flexibility in working hours. The table below outlines gender diversity within Phosphagenics:

Whole organisation Senior Management Senior Executive Board

Total 41 8 5 4

Female 20 2 1 0

% Female 49% 25% 20% 0%

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Audit and risk committee

The Company has established an audit and risk committee comprising three independent non-executive 
directors. The chairman of the committee must be an independent director who is not chairman of the 
board. At least one director should have relevant financial qualifications or financial experience. At the 
date of this report the committee consisted of the following members:

 Mr N Drona (Chairman)

 Dr G Cauwenbergh 

 Mr L Gozlan

Details of these directors’ qualifications and attendance at committee meetings are set out in the director’s 
reports on pages 25 to 26. The audit and risk committee members are financially literate and have an 
appropriate understanding of the industry in which the group operates. The committee meets at least two 
times per year and has direct access to the Company’s auditors. 

The charter of the committee is to:

-  exercise oversight of the compliance of the Company’s financial statements with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act and any other mandatory professional or statutory reporting requirements;

-  oversee effectiveness of the company’s risk management and internal control systems including the 
Company’s risk profile;

-  recommend to the Board the appointment, removal and remuneration of external auditors, and review 
their terms of engagement, the scope and quality of their audit and assess performance;

- consider the independence of the external auditor on an on-going basis;

- report to the Board on matters relevant to the committee’s role and responsibilities.
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In March 2014 the audit and risk committee recommended to change the Company’s external auditor and 
consequently undertook a tender process with a number of leading audit firms. The selection process 
involved written proposals and panel interviews, after which PricewaterhouseCoopers was recommended 
to the Board, and subsequently to the shareholders at the May 2014 annual general meeting. The current 
audit partner will be rotated by the audit firm every five years as governed by audit standards.

The audit and risk committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information 
it requires from any employee or external party.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

Continuous disclosure

The Company has a continuous disclosure policy to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rules. A copy 
of this policy is available on the company’s website. This policy:

- gives guidance on the information that may need to be disclosed;

- allocates responsibility for approving public disclosures;

- establishes procedures to ensure compliance;

- gives guidance for dealing with the media, public and analysts.

Principle 6: Respect the right of shareholders

Communication with shareholders

The Board has approved a Shareholder Communication Policy to ensure the shareholders and the 
wider community are informed of all major developments affecting the company in a timely and effective 
manner. In addition to its disclosure obligations under the ASX Listing Rules, the Company communicates 
with its shareholders in a number of ways, including:

- annual and half-yearly reports;

- updates on operation and developments;

- announcements on the company’s website;

- market briefings; and

- presentations at general meetings.

All the above are posted on the company’s website (www.phosphagenics.com). Shareholders are 
encouraged to receive shareholder material electronically, which can be established by registering on the 
company website.

In addition the Company is committed to using general meetings of the Company to effectively 
communicate with shareholders and to allow reasonable opportunity for informed shareholder 
participation at general meetings. The external auditor is requested to attend the annual general meeting 
and be available to answer questions on the conduct of the audit of the Company and preparation 
of the auditor’s report. The Company is committed to further developing its communications strategies 
to optimise shareholder communication.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk

Risk management

The Board considers risk management fundamental to maintaining efficient and effective operations 
and generating and protecting shareholder value. The management and oversight of risk is an ongoing 
process integral to the management and corporate governance of the Company’s business.

The Board, through its audit and risk committee, is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies 
in relation to risk management, compliance and internal controls. The Company has established a risk 
management system which aligns with the vision, strategy, processes, technology and governance and 
provides for:

- appropriate levels of risk taking and acceptance;

- an effective system for management of risk across the Company;
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- informed and effective strategy setting, decision making, planning and performance oversight; and

- reliable and efficient execution of operations, programs and projects.

The Company has a Risk Management Policy, a summary of which is available on the Company’s 
website, which sets out the objectives and key principals of risk management, along with responsibilities 
and authorities of the Board, the audit and risk committee, the CEO, CFO, Executive Management and 
management. The Company has adopted a risk management strategy that aims to identify and minimise 
the potential for loss, while also maximising strategic opportunities for growth and development. 
The Board sets risk appetite and tolerance levels for the Company and reviews this annually. 

The CEO, CFO and Executive Management are responsible to the Board through the audit and risk 
committee for the overall implementation of the risk management system. During the year management 
has reported to the Board as to the effectiveness of the group’s management of its material business risks.

CEO and CFO certification

In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001, the chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer have provided a written statement to the Board that:

-  that the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the financial condition and operation al results of the company and group and are in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards;

-  that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the Company’s risk 
management framework and internal compliance and control is operating efficiently and effectively 
in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The Company believes having highly skilled and motivated people will align employees to the Company’s 
strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder value. The ability to attract and retain 
the best people is critical to the Company’s future success. The Board considers remuneration policies 
are instrumental in ensuring success.

Remuneration committee

The Board established the remuneration committee in March 2014 and is composed of three directors, 
the majority independent, and is chaired by an independent director. Previously the function of the 
remuneration committee was undertaken by the full Board. At the date of this report the committee 
consisted of the following members:

 Mr L Gozlan (Chairman)

 Dr G Cauwenbergh

 Mr N Drona

Details of these directors’ attendance at committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report on page 29.

A charter for the remuneration committee was approved by the Board in February 2015, a summary 
of which is available on the Company’s website. The charter of the remuneration committee is to:

-  review and make recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and policies applicable 
to Senior Management and Directors such that they ensure remuneration packages and policies 
attract, retain and motivate high calibre executives and ensure they demonstrate a clear relationship 
between performance and remuneration;

- review Senior Management packages after application of the remuneration policies;

- review currently industry best practice;

- review superannuation arrangements;

- review existing and proposed incentive schemes.
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Non-executive and executive remuneration

Non-executive director fees are determined by the Board within the aggregate limit for directors’ fees 
approved by shareholders. Non-executive directors do not receive any retirement allowances.

Executive directors and senior executives receive a mix between fixed and incentive pay, comprising both 
cash and eligibility to participate in equity incentive schemes. Full details of remuneration paid to non-
executive and executive directors, and senior executives, are set out in the remuneration report on pages 
30 to 39 of this report.

Prohibition on hedging unvested entitlements

Employees are prohibited from entering into transactions in products which limit the economic risk 
of participating in unvested entitlements under equity-based remuneration schemes. Details in relation 
to this policy are contained in the Share Trading Policy which is available on the company’s website.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Lawrence Gozlan 
Chairman 

26 February 2015 
Melbourne
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These financial statements are consolidated financial statements for the group consisting of 
Phosphagenics Limited and its subsidiaries. A list of subsidiaries is included in note 20.

The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency.

Phosphagenics Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

 Phosphagenics Limited 
 11 Duerdin Street 
 Clayton Victoria 3168

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 26 February 2015. The directors 
have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

All press releases, financial reports and other information are available on the website: www.phosphagenics.com.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Revenue from continuing operations

Sale of goods 2 1,847 575

Licences 2 206 229

Finance revenue 2 452 553

Total revenue 2,505 1,357

Cost of sales (461) (334)

Gross profit 2,044 1,023

Income from government grants 2 2,456 2,994

Other income 135 35

Recoveries 2 2,095 1,690

Employee and directors benefits expenses (4,792) (4,157)

Research expenses (3,383) (3,777)

Consulting and professional expenses 3a (841) (2,439)

Occupancy and communications expenses (547) (565)

Amortisation and depreciation (3,783) (3,817)

Costs under investigation - (584)

Other expenses 3b (818) (1,074)

Loss before income tax (7,434) (10,671)

Income tax benefit 4 - -

Loss from continuing operations (7,434) (10,671)

Loss from discontinued operations 18 (1,501) (1,936)

Loss for period (8,935) (12,607)

Earnings per share for loss from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
company:

Basic profit / (loss) per share 15 (0.66) cents (1.05) cents

Diluted profit / (loss) per share 15 (0.66) cents (1.05) cents

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:

Basic profit / (loss) per share 15 (0.80) cents (1.24) cents

Diluted profit / (loss) per share 15 (0.80) cents (1.24) cents

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

Loss for the period (8,935) (12,607)

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that may be classified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations

14 (9) (12)

Income tax/(expense) on items of other comprehensive 
income

- -

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 14 (9) (12)

Total comprehensive income for the period (8,944) (12,619)

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:

owners of Phosphagenics Ltd arises from: 

   Continuing operations (7,443) (10,683)

   Discontinued operations (1,501) (1,936)

(8,944) (12,619)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Notes

31 December 
2014 

$’000

Restated* 
31 December 

2013 
$’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 22a 20,679 8,823

Trade and other receivables 7 5,213 4,421

Inventories 8 220 699

Other current assets 562 212

Assets classified as held for sale 18 382 -

Total Current Assets 27,056 14,155

Non-Current Assets

Plant and equipment 9 814 926

Intangible assets 10 23,031 26,607

Total Non-Current Assets 23,845 27,533

Total Assets 50,901 41,688

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 1,026 1,688

Provisions 12 752 432

Total Current Liabilities 1,778 2,120

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 12 95 67

Total Non-Current Liabilities 95 67

Total Liabilities 1,873 2,187

Net Assets 49,028 39,501

EQUITY

Issued Capital 13 228,100 209,895

Reserves 14 30,171 29,914

Accumulated Losses (209,243) (200,308)

Total Equity 49,028 39,501

* See note 10 for details as a result of restatement as a result of error.

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Contributed 
capital

$’000

Reserves

$’000

Accumulated 
Losses

$’000

Total equity

$’000

Restated* 
Balance at  
1 January 2013 209,861 29,724 (187,701) 51,884

Loss for the period - - (12,607) (12,607)

Other comprehensive income - (12) - (12)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (12) (12,607) (12,619)

Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners:

Issue of share capital 36 - - 36

Transaction costs (2) - - (2)

Employee equity settlement benefits - 202 - 202

Total transactions with owners 34 202 - 236

Balance at  
31 December 2013 209,895 29,914 (200,308) 39,501

Loss for the period - - (8,935) (8,935)

Other comprehensive income - (9) - (9)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (9) (8,935) (8,944)

Transactions with owners in their capacity 
as owners:

Issue of share capital 19,320 - - 19,320

Transaction costs (1,115) - - (1,115)

Employee equity settlement benefits - 176 - 176

Directors equity settlement benefits - 90 - 90

Total transactions with owners 18,205 266 - 18,471

Balance at  
31 December 2014 228,100 30,171 (209,243) 49,028

* See note 10 for details as a result of restatement as a result of error.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note
2014 

$’000
2013 

$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 2,248 1,466

Receipt of recoveries 2,430 1,356

Receipt of government grants 1,982 3,376

Payments to suppliers and employees (13,399) (14,776)

Net cash used in operating activities 22(b) (6,739) (8,578)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 485 588

Purchase of  plant and equipment (95) (133)

Net cash from investing activities 390 455

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares 13 19,320 -

Proceeds from exercise of options 13 - 36

Costs of issue of shares 13 (1,115) (2)

Net cash from financing activities 18,205 34

Net  increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,856 (8,089)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 8,823 16,912

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 22(a) 20,679 8,823

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of all significant 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these consolidated financial statements. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The 
financial statements are the group consisting of 
Phosphagenics Ltd and its subsidiaries (the group).

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001. Phosphagenics Ltd is 
a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the 
financial statements.

(i) Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statement of the 
Phosphagenics Ltd group also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

(ii) Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared 
on a historical cost basis except for available-for-
sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities 
(including derivative instruments), certain classes 
of property, plant and equipment and investment 
property, which have been measured at fair value.

(iii) Going concern

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the 
consolidated entity has incurred losses of 
$8,935,000 (2013: $12,607,000) and experienced 
net cash outflows of $6,739,000 from operations 
(2013: $8,578,000). As at year end the cash 
position was $20,679,000 (2013:$8,823,000). 
The Company is in development phase and as 
such expects to be utilising cash until its research 
becomes commercial. The directors are satisfied 
that there is sufficient working capital and the 
Company has the ability to realise its assets and 
pay its liabilities and commitments in the normal 
course of business. Accordingly the directors have 
prepared the financial report on a going concern 
basis and that no asset will be realised for an 
amount less than the amount it is recorded in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

(iv)  New and amended standards adopted 
by the group

The group has applied the following standards 
and amendments for the first time for the annual 
reporting period commencing 1 January 2014:

AASB 2011-4 and revised Corporations Regulations 
2M.3.03 – Transfer of individual KMP disclosures 
to the remuneration report

As a result of adopting the above, disclosures 
relating to individual key management personnel 
(KMP) equity holdings, loans and other transactions 
have been moved from the financial statements 
to the remuneration report.

None of the new and amended standards that 
are mandatory for the first time for the financial 
year beginning 1 January 2014 affected any of the 
amounts recognised in the current period or any 
prior period and are not likely to affect future periods.

(v)  New standards and interpretations not 
yet adopted

The group has elected not to apply any 
pronouncements before their operative date in the 
annual reporting period beginning 1 January 2014.

There are no other standards that are not yet 
effective and that are expected to have a material 
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting 
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

(vi)  Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas of 
assumptions and estimates are:

(1) R&D Tax Incentives

From 1 July 2011 the Australian Government 
has provided a tax incentive, in the form of a 
refundable tax offset of 45%, for eligible research 
and development expenditure. Management has 
assessed its research and development activities 
and expenditure to determine which are likely 
to be eligible under the scheme. For the period 
ended 31 December 2014 the Company has 
recorded an item in other income of $2,456,000 
(2013: $2,994,000) to recognise this amount which 
relates to this period.

(2) Share-based payment transactions

The group measures the cost of equity-settled 
transactions with employees by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the date at 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined 
by using the binomial method taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the 
instruments were granted, as discussed in note 5. 
The accounting estimates and assumptions relating 



PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT    2014 57

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

to equity-settled share-based payments would have 
no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period but 
may impact expenses and equity.

(3) Development costs

An intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure on an internal project is recognised 
only when Phosphagenics can demonstrate the 
technical feasibility of completing the intangible 
asset so that it will be available for use or sale, 
its intention to complete and its ability to use or 
sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources 
to complete the development and the ability to 
measure reliably the expenditure attributable to 
the intangible asset during its development. Any 
expenditure capitalised is amortised over the 
period of expected future benefit from the related 
project on a straight line basis. 

The group had previously capitalised development 
costs to June 2010, which had been subsequently 
amortised. The methodology of this capitalisation 
was reviewed and subsequently reassessed as not 
satisfying the requirements of certainty around future 
economic benefits. The net book value of these 
development costs was adjusted through opening 
retained earnings. See note 10 for further information.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured 
entities) over which the group has control. The 
group controls an entity when the group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power to direct 
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transactions provides 
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the group.

(ii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the group 
has significant influence but not control or joint 
control. This is generally the case where the group 
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), 
after initially being recognized at cost.

(iii) Joint arrangements

Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangement investments in 
joint arrangements are classified as either joint 
operations or joint ventures. The classification 
depends on the contractual rights and obligations 
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of 
the joint arrangements. Phosphagenics Ltd has a 
joint venture.

Joint venture

Interests in joint venture are accounted for using 
the equity method (see (iv) below), after initially 
being measured at cost in the consolidated 
balance sheet.

(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the 
investments are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share 
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the 
investee in profit or loss, and the group’s share 
of movements in other comprehensive income 
of the investee in other comprehensive income. 
Dividends received or receivable from associates 
and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction 
in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds 
its interest in the entity, including any other 
unsecured long-term receivables, the group does 
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the 
group and its associates and joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in 
these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of equity accounted investees have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the group.

The group treats transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in a loss of control 
as transactions with equity owners of the group. 
A change in ownership interest results in an 
adjustment between the carrying amounts of 
the controlling and non-controlling interests to 
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. 
Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any 
consideration paid or received is recognised in 
a separate reserve within equity attributable to 
owners of Phosphagenics Limited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

(v) Changes in ownership interests

When the group ceases to have control, joint 
control or significant influence, any retained 
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value 
with the change in carrying amount recognised 
in profit or loss.

This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount 
for the purposes of subsequently accounting 
for the retained interest as an associate, joint 
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in respect of that entity are accounted for 
as if the group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an 
associate is reduced but joint control or significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 
or loss where appropriate.

(c) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the chief operating decision maker.

The chief operating decision maker, who is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Chief Executive Officer.

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each 
of the group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Australian dollars, which 
is Phosphagenics Limited’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions and from the translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are 
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are 
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash 
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges 
or are attributable to part of the net investment 
in a foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate 
to borrowings are presented in the income 
statement, within finance costs. All other foreign 
exchange gains and losses are presented in the 
income statement on a net basis within other 
income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported 
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets 
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit 
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets 
such as equities classified as available-for-
sale financial assets are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

(iii) Group Companies 

The results and financial position of foreign 
operations (none of which has the currency of 
a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet 
presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of that balance sheet

•  income and expenses for each income 
statement and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange 
rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of 
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the dates of the transactions), and

•  all resulting exchange differences are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising 
from the translation of any net investment in 
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other 
financial instruments designated as hedges 
of such investments, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation 
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net 
investment are repaid, the associated exchange 
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part 
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as 
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 
translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. Amounts 
disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates and amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties.

The group recognises revenue when the amount 
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity 
and specific criteria have been met for each of the 
group’s activities as described below. The group 
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, 
the group reduces the carrying amount to its 
recoverable amount, being the estimated future 
cash flow discounted at the original effective 
interest rate of the instrument, and continues 
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest 
income on impaired loans is recognised using the 
original effective interest rate.

(f) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised 
at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and 
the group will comply with all attached conditions. 
Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognized in profit or loss over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they 
are intended to compensate. Government grants 
relating to the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment are included in non-current liabilities 
as deferred income and are credited to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the expected lives of the related assets.

(g) Income tax

The income tax expense or revenue for the 
period is the tax payable on the current period’s 
taxable income based on the applicable income 
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the 
countries where the company’s subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition 
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only 
if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences 
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not 
recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in 
foreign operations where the company is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax 
balances relate to the same taxation authority.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable right 
to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Phosphagenics Limited and its wholly-owned 
Australian controlled entities have implemented the 
tax consolidation legislation. As a consequence, 
these entities are taxed as a single entity and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities 
are set off in the consolidated financial statements.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit 
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively.
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(h)  Investment allowances and similar 
tax incentives

Companies within the group may be entitled 
to claim special tax deductions for investments 
in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying 
expenditure (eg the Research and Development 
Tax Incentive regime in Australia or other 
investment allowances). The group accounts 
for such allowances as tax credits, which means 
that the allowance reduces income tax payable 
and current tax expense. A deferred tax asset 
is recognised for unclaimed tax credits that are 
carried forward as deferred tax assets.

(i) Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks 
and rewards of ownership are not transferred 
to the group as lessee are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) 
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

( j) Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets 
are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement 
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and which are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and 
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

(l) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. See note 7 for further 
information about the group’s accounting for trade 
receivables and note 7 for a description of the 
group’s impairment policies.

(m)  Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress 
and finished goods

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and 
finished goods are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead 
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the 
basis of normal operating capacity. Cost includes 
the reclassification from equity of any gains or 
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to 
purchases of raw material but excludes borrowing 
costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of 
inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. 
Costs of purchased inventory are determined after 
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale.

(n)  Non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) held for sale and 
discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use 
and a sale is considered highly probable. They are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets 
such as deferred tax assets, assets arising 
from employee benefits, financial assets and 
investment property that are carried at fair value 
and contractual rights under insurance contracts, 
which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial 
or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 
group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is 
recognised for any subsequent increases in fair 
value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal 
group), but not in excess of any cumulative 
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or 
loss not previously recognised by the date of the 
sale of the noncurrent asset (or disposal group) 
is recognised at the date of derecognition.
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Non-current assets (including those that are 
part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or 
amortised while they are classified as held for sale. 
Interest and other expenses attributable to the 
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
and the assets of a disposal group classified as 
held for sale are presented separately from the 
other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are 
presented separately from other liabilities in the 
balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the 
entity that has been disposed of or is classified as 
held for sale and that represents a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations, 
is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of 
such a line of business or area of operations, or 
is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to 
resale. The results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately in the income statement.

(o)  Investments and other financial 
assets

(i) Classification

The group classifies its financial assets in the 
following categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition and, in the case of 
assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates 
this designation at the end of each reporting period.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included 
in current assets, except those with maturities 
greater than 12 months after the reporting date 
which are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are included in trade and other 
receivables (note 7) in the balance sheet.

(p) Plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is stated at 
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include 
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on 
qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is 
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during 
the reporting period in which they are incurred.

The depreciation is calculated using the 
diminishing-line method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts, net of the residual values, over 
their estimated useful lives. The expected net 
useful lives are 3 to 5 years. The assets’ residual 
values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i))

Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in profit or loss.

(q) Intangible assets

(i) Intellectual Property

Intellectual property acquired separately or in 
a business combination are initially measured 
at cost, which is its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intellectual 
property is carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. The useful life of the intellectual property 
is referenced to its expiry date. The intellectual 
property purchased, primarily registered patents, 
had remaining lives of 15 to 19 years at purchase 
date. Intellectual property is amortised over its 
useful life and tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intellectual property 
may be impaired.

Internally generated intellectual property is not 
capitalised and expenditure is recognised as an 
expense as incurred.

(ii) Trademarks and licences

Trademarks and licences have a finite useful 
life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

(r) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the group prior to the end 
of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 
days of recognition. Trade and other payables are 
presented as current liabilities unless payment is 
not due within 12 months after the reporting period.
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(s) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties 
and make good obligations are recognised when 
the group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised 
for future operating losses. Where there are 
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations 
as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the 
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one 
item included in the same class of obligations may 
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end 
of the reporting period. The discount rate used 
to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(t) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave 
that are expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of employees’ services 
up to the end of the reporting period and are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. The liability for 
accumulating sick leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits. All other short-
term employee benefit obligations are presented 
as payables.

(ii)  Other long-term employee benefit 
obligations 

The liabilities for long service leave and annual 
leave are not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service. They are 
therefore recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect 
of services provided by employees up to the end 
of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. 
Expected future payments are discounted using 

market yields at the end of the reporting period 
of government bonds with terms and currencies 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. Remeasurements as a result 
of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in profit or loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities 
in the balance sheet if the entity does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period, 
regardless of when the actual settlement is 
expected to occur.

(iii) Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided 
to employees via the Phosphagenics Employee 
Option Plan and an employee share scheme. 
Information relating to these schemes is set out 
in note 5.

The fair value of options granted under the 
Phosphagenics Employee Option Plan is 
recognized as an employee benefits expense 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options granted, 
which includes any market performance conditions 
and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but 
excludes the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised 
over the vesting period, which is the period over 
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to 
be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity 
revises its estimates of the number of options that 
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing 
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the 
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or 
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The fair value of deferred shares granted to 
employees for nil consideration under the 
short-term incentive scheme is recognised 
as an expense over the relevant service period, 
being the year to which the bonus relates and 
the vesting period of the shares. The fair value 
is measured at the grant date of the shares 
and is recognised in equity in the share-based 
payment reserve. The number of shares expected 
to vest is estimated based on the non-market 
vesting conditions. The estimates are revised at 
the end of each reporting period and adjustments 
are recognised in profit or loss and the share-
based payment reserve.
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(iv) Bonus plans

The group recognises a liability and an expense 
for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula 
that takes into consideration the profit attributable 
to the company’s shareholders after certain 
adjustments. The group recognises a provision 
where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(v) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when 
employment is terminated by the group before 
the normal retirement date, or when an employee 
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The group recognises termination 
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: 
(a) when the group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity 
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within 
the scope of AASB 137 and involves the payment 
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the 
termination benefits are measured based on 
the number of employees expected to accept 
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to present value.

(u) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the 
company’s equity instruments, for example as the 
result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment 
plan, the consideration paid, including any directly 
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) 
is deducted from equity attributable to the owners 
of Phosphagenics Limited as treasury shares 
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, 
any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the 
related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the owners of Phosphagenics Limited.

(v) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend 
declared, being appropriately authorised and no 
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the 
end of the reporting period but not distributed at the 
end of the reporting period.Earnings per share.

(w) Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing:

•  the loss attributable to owners of the 
company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares

•  by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary 
shares issued during the year.

(i) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in 
the determination of basic loss per share to take 
into account:

•  the after income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive potential

• ordinary shares, and

•  the weighted average number of additional 
ordinary shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(x) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. 
In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive 
of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included with 
other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.



PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT    201464

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

2. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Revenue from continuing operations

Sale of goods 1,847 575

Royalty and licence revenue 206 229

Interest revenue 452 553

Total 2,505 1,357

Revenue from discontinued operations (note 18)

Sale of goods 356 801

Income from Government Grants

Export market development grant - 155

R&D tax incentive credit 2,456 2,839

Total 2,456 2,994

Recoveries

Recoveries received 2,095 1,356

Recoveries receivable - 334

Total 2,095 1,690

Recoveries are recognised where they are virtually certain. See further details at note 16.

3. EXPENSES

(a) Consulting and profession expenses   

Legal costs associated with investigation and recovery 
of misappropriations

(134) (749)

Other consulting and professional expenses (707) (1,690)

Total (841) (2,439)

(b) Other Expenses

Net foreign exchange gain / (loss) 127 (12)

Marketing (24) (47)

Travel (438) (181)

Doubtful debts 1 243 (263)

Insurance (219) (193)

Shareholder and listing expenses (185) (172)

Other (322) (206)

Total (818) (1,074)

1 Provision for doubtful debts of $263,000 provided for in 2013 was written back in 2014 when the debt was paid in full.
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4. INCOME TAXES

2014 
$’000’s

2013 
$’000’s

Major components of income tax expense are:

Current income tax - -

Deferred income tax - -

The prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to the income 
tax expense in the financial statements as follows: 

Accounting (loss) before income tax (8,935) (12,607)

Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2013: 30%) (2,681) (3,782)

Non-assessable income (629) (507)

Non-deductible expenses 1,417 465

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets 1,893 3,824

Income tax benefit reported in income statement - -

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:

Intellectual property - -

Unrecognised deferred tax balances

The following items have not been brought to account as deferred 
tax assets: 

Tax losses not recognised (at current tax rate of 30%) 27,561 25,669

Temporary differences not recognised - -

Total 27,561 25,669

Tax Losses 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses.

Tax consolidation 

(i) Members of the tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement

Phosphagenics Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated 
group with effect from 1 July 2009. Phosphagenics Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated 
group. As a result the tax base of intangible assets was reset such that the deferred tax liability of 
$13,830,498 was reversed during 2011.

(ii) Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group

Measurement method adopted under AASB Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for 
their own current and deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the Group allocation approach in 
determining the appropriate amount of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax 
consolidated group. The current and deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is 
consistent with the broad principles in AASB 112 Income Taxes.
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5. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Group provides benefits to service providers in the form of share-based payments. Employees render 
services in exchange for rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). There are currently two schemes 
in place to provide these benefits to employees, being the Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) and the 
Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS). 

•  The ESOP is designed to align participants’ interests with those of shareholders by increasing the 
value of the Company’s shares.  Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. 
For options granted under the terms of the ESOP a service period was determined as the most 
appropriate criteria to attach to the options given Phosphagenics is still commercialising its products. 
There are no other services or performance criteria attached to share based payment options issued 
under the terms of the ESOP.  

•  The ECRS allows eligible employees to be granted Rights to acquire Shares at no cost. The purpose 
of the Scheme is to provide a long term incentive to staff as part of a focus to more closely link overall 
remuneration to the achievement of performance benchmarks, to encourage direct involvement 
and interest in the performance of the Company and to enable the acquisition of a long term equity 
interest in the Company by its staff. All employees, including executive and Non-Executive Directors, 
and any individual whom the Board determines to be an eligible participant for the purposes of the 
Scheme, are eligible to participate in the Scheme.

Options held by directors of the parent and its subsidiaries were acquired as part of the original 
subscriptions for shares in Phosphagenics Limited in 1999. Subsequently, all options granted to key 
management personnel have been issued in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share 
Option Plan (ESOP). All rights granted to key management personnel have been issued in accordance 
with the provisions of the Employee Conditional Rights Scheme (ECRS).   

Summary of options granted as share based payments

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, share options issued during the year.

Item

2014 
Options 

No.

2014 
WAEP 

$

2013 
Options 

No.

2013 
WAEP 

$

Outstanding at beginning of the year 2,750,000 $0.15 9,400,000 $0.15

Granted during the year 3,000,000 $0.17 - -

Forfeited during the year - - - -

Exercised during the year - - (250,000) $0.13

Expired during the year (2,750,000) $0.15 (6,400,000) $0.26

Outstanding at end of the year 3,000,000 $0.17 2,750,000 $0.15

Exercisable at end of the year 3,000,000 $0.17 2,750,000 $0.15

When a participant in the employee share option plan ceases employment prior to the vesting of their share 
options, the share options are forfeited unless cessation of employment is due to retirement or death.  

A service period was determined as the most appropriate criteria to attach to the options given 
Phosphagenics is still developing its products for commercialisation. There is no other service or 
performance criteria attached to share based payment options. 

The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2014 is represented by:

Issuing entity 
Shares under 

option  
No.

Class of shares Exercise price  
$

Expiry date 

Phosphagenics Ltd 3,000,000 Ordinary $0.17 22 May 2019

Total 3,000,000
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Summary of performance rights granted as share based payments

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, performance rights issued during the year.

Item

2014  
Performance 

Rights 
No.

2014 
WAEP 

 
$

2013  
Performance 

Rights 
No.

2014 
WAEP 

 
$

Outstanding at beginning of the year 16,000,000 - 18,100,000 -

Granted during the year - - 2,100,000 0.00

Forfeited during the year (2,800,000) - (4,200,000) -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at end of the year 13,200,000 0.00 16,000,000 0.00

Exercisable at end of the year Nil - Nil -

When a participant in the ECRS ceases employment prior to the vesting of their performance rights, 
the performance rights are forfeited unless cessation of employment is due to retirement or death. 
At 31 December 2014 $126,029 was reversed as a result of forfeited unvested performance rights. 
The amount recognised from equity settled share based performance transactions during the year 
is $304,119. The net expense from equity settled share transactions was $178,080.

The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2014 is represented by:

Issuing entity 
Performance 

Rights  
No.

Class of shares Exercise price  
$

Expiry date 

Phosphagenics Ltd 13,200,000 Ordinary $0.00 30 June 2016

Total 13,2000,000

There were no cancellations or modifications to the awards in 2014 or 2013.

Option pricing model

Fair values for both instruments are calculated using a Binomial model. Options and Rights will be settled 
in ordinary shares of Phosphagenics Limited and vested options/rights lapse if unexercised after the 
expiry date.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of Phosphagenics Limited. The cost of equity-settled transactions is 
recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance 
and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date on which the relevant party 
becomes fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

During the year ended 31 December 2014 3,000,000 share options were granted at a fair value of $0.03 
under the ESOP (2013: nil). An expense of $90,000 was recognized in the period (2013: nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2014 nil (2013: 2,100,000) share rights were granted at a fair value of nil 
(2013: $0.02) under the ECRS which will vest based upon achievement of certain performance objectives. 

During the year ended 31 December 2014 no options were granted to non-employees (2013: nil).
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Model Inputs 2014  
Options

2013  
Rights

Dividend yield % 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility % 60% 60%

Risk-free interest rate % 3.20% 2.50%

Option life (years) 5 years 1.1 years

Option Exercise price $ $0.17 Nil

Weighted Average Share price  
at measurement date

$0.08 $0.11

The expected life of the rights is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 
patterns that may occur.

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which may not necessarily be the actual outcome.  

6. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The auditor of Phosphagenics Ltd (the parent), and the Group for the period ended 31 December 2014 
is PricewaterhouseCoopers (2013: Ernst & Young).

Amounts received or due and receivable by auditor
2014  

$
2013  

$

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Audit or review of the financial report 100,000 -

Other non-audit services 15,000 -

Taxation services - -

Total PricewaterhouseCoopers 115,000 -

Ernst & Young

Audit or review of the financial report 7,968 106,523

Other non-audit services - -

Taxation services 7,000 39,677

Total Ernst & Young 14,968 146,200
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7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current 31 December 
2014  

$’000

31 December 
2013  

$’000

Trade receivables 758 589

Allowance for impairment loss - (262)

758 327

R&D tax incentive credit receivable 4,039 3,499

Recoveries receivable - 334

Other receivables 416 261

Total 5,213 4,421

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 45 day terms or as specified in contracts or 
agreements. An amount of $2,586,000 is expected to be received from the R&D tax incentive scheme 
before June 2015. A further amount of $1,387,000 will form part of the R&D tax incentive claimed for the 
tax year ended 30 June 2015 and is expected to be received before December 2015.

Allowance for impairment loss

A provision for impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of 
insolvency or significant financial difficulty of the debtor) that the Group may not be able to collect all the 
amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 
assessed as uncollectible. Debts totalling $nil (2013: $262,299) were deemed impaired at 31 December 
2014. No debts were written-off during the year (2013: $100,104).

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Total $’000 Neither 
past due or 

impaired 
$’000

Past due but not impaired

31-60 days 
$’000

61-90 days 
$’000

90+ days 
$’000

31 December 2014 758 620 57 30 51

31 December 2013 327 75 18 206 28

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It 
is expected that these other balances will be received when due.

Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair 
value. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. 

8. INVENTORIES

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Raw materials (at cost or net realisable value) 146 375

Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value) 74 324

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value 220 699

During 2014, $18,249 (2013: $369,580) was recognised as an expense for inventories written off or a 
provision raised for inventories adjusted to their net realisable value. This is recognised in other expenses.



PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT    201470

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

9. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 December 2014

Plant and equipment  
at cost  
$’000

Total  
$’000

At 1 January 2014 net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 926 926

Additions 95 95

Disposals - -

Depreciation charge for the year (207) (207)

At 31 December 2014, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 814 814

At 31 December 2014

Cost 3,058 3,058

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,244) (2,244)

Net carrying value 814 814

Year ended 31 December 2013

Plant and equipment  
at cost  
$’000

Total  
$’000

At 1 January 2013 net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 1,034 1,034

Additions 133 133

Disposals - -

Depreciation charge for the year (241) (241)

At 31 December 2013, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 926 926

At 31 December 2013

Cost 2,963 2,963

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,037) (2,037)

Net carrying value 926 926
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Year ended 31 December 2014

Intellectual 
Property  

$’000

Total  
 

$’000

At 1 January 2013 net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 26,607 26,607

Amortisation (3,576) (3,576)

At 31 December 2014, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 23,031 23,031

At 31 December 2014

Cost (gross carrying amount) 121,362 121,362

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (98,331) (98,331)

Net carrying amount 23,031 23,031

Year ended 31 December 2013

Development 
Costs  
$’000

Intellectual 
Property  

$’000

Total  
 

$’000

At 1 January 2013 net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

1,336 30,183 31,519

Correction of error (1,336) - (1,336)

Adjusted as at 1 January 2013 - 30,183 30,183

Amortisation - (3,576) (3,576)

At 31 December 2013, net of accumulated amortisation 
and impairment

- 26,607 26,607

At 31 December 2013

Cost (gross carrying amount) - 121,362 121,362

Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (94,755) (94,755)

Net carrying amount - 26,607 26,607

Correction of prior year balances

A review of the prior treatment of capitalisation of development costs was undertaken and it has been 
subsequently reassessed as not satisfying the requirements for certainty of future economic benefits. 
The net book value of $1,336,000 as at 31 December 2012 has been reversed through accumulated 
losses, and the previously recognised amortisation of $66,000 has been deducted from amortisation 
expense in the Consolidated Income Statement for the period ended 31 December 2013.

Impairment Testing

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property assets cost represents the fair value of patents acquired by the Company at 
31 December 2004. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful life and tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least 
at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by changing the 
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation 
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
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11. CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Trade payables 582 311

Accrued expenses 274 810

Goods and services tax (GST) payable - 469

Other payables 170 98

Total 1,026 1,688

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 day terms. Other payables are 
non-trade payables and non-interest bearing. 

12. PROVISIONS 

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Current

Annual leave benefits 372 262

Bonus 72 -

Redundancy 109 -

Long service leave benefits 199 170

Total Current 752 432

Non-Current

Long service leave benefits 95 67

Total Non-Current 95 67

Total 847 499

(a) Movement in provisions

2014

Annual 
leave 

$’000
Bonus 
$’000

Redund-
ancy 

$’000

Long 
service 

leave 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Carrying amount at start of year 262 - - 237 499

Charged to profit or loss 
- Additional provisions recognised

332 72 109 57 570

Amounts used during the year (222) - - - (222)

Carrying amount at end of year 372 72 109 294 847

(b) Amounts not expected to be settled in the next 12 months

The provision for annual leave represents the employee’s statutory entitlements and the entire amount of 
$372,000 (2013: $262,000) is presented as current since the group does not have the right to defer such 
settlements. The provision for long service leave shown in current includes all unconditional entitlements 
where employees have completed the required period of service. The amount of $199,000 (2013: 
$170,000) is presented as current as the group does not have the unconditional right to defer settlement.
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However, based on past experience, the group does not expect all employees to take the full amount 
of accrued leave or require payment in the next 12 months. The following amount reflect leave that is not 
expected to be taken or paid in the next 12 months.

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Annual leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months 122 192

Long service leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months 129 170

Total 251 362

13. ISSUED CAPITAL

Fully paid ordinary shares 2014  
No. ‘000’s

2014 
$’000

2013  
No. ‘000’s

2013 
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 1,020,465 209,895 1,020,215 209,861

Issue of shares 241,500 19,320 - -

Exercise of options - - 250 36

Capital raising costs - (1,115) - (2)

Balance at end of  year 1,261,965 228,100 1,020,465 209,895

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Share options

As at close of business on 31 December 2014 there were a total of 3,000,000 unexercised unquoted 
options issued as share based payments, of which 3,000,000 options are fully vested and can be 
exercised at any time up to the date of expiry.

As at close of business on 31 December 2014 there were a total of 13,200,000 unexercised unquoted rights 
issued as share based payments, of which nil are fully vested, and therefore cannot yet be exercised.

Share options and share rights carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. For further details 
of share based payments refer to note 5.
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14. RESERVES

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Reserves

Business combination 27,812 27,812

Employee equity-settled benefits 2,056 1,790

Other equity-settled benefits 306 306

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (3) 6

30,171 29,914

Business combination reserve

Balance at beginning of  year 27,812 27,812

Balance at end of  year 27,812 27,812

The business combinations reserve is used to record fair value 
adjustments relating to the business combination

Employee equity-settled benefits reserve

Balance at beginning of  year 1,790 1,588

Share based payment expense 266 202

Balance at end of  year 2,056 1,790

The employee share option and share plan reserve is used to record the 
value of equity benefits provided to employees and Directors as part of their 
remuneration. For further details refer to note 5 in the Financial Statements.

Other equity-settled benefits reserve

Balance at beginning of  year 306 306

Share based payments - -

Balance at end of  year 306 306

The other equity-settled benefits reserve is used to record the value of 
equity benefits provided to suppliers as part of their remuneration. 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of  year 6 18

Foreign Currency Translation (9) (12)

Balance at end of  year (3) 6

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record the translation 
from Phosphagenics Inc.’s functional currency into Phosphagenics 
Limited’s reporting currency.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit / (loss), from continuing operations 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for the year, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

2014 
cents

2013 
cents

From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company (0.66) (1.05)

From discontinued operations (0.14) (0.19)

Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company (0.80) (1.24)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the year (adjusted for 
the effects of dilutive options).

From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
the company (0.66) (1.05)

From discontinued operations (0.14) (0.19)

Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders 
of the company (0.80) (1.24)

There are no instruments (e.g., share options) excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share 
that could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would 
significantly change the number of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between 
the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements. 

(c) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

2014  
$’000’s

2013  
$’000’s

Net Profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders for the calculation 
of basic and diluted earnings per share

From continuing operations (7,434) (10,671)

From discontinued operations (1,501) (1,936)

(8,935) (12,607)
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(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

2014  
No. ‘000’s

2013  
No. ‘000’s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic 
earnings per share 1,122,059 1,020,402

Effect of dilution:

Share options 3,067 4,948

Performance rights 14,815 16,937

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect 
of dilution  1,139,941  1,042,287

Share options and performance rights are anti-dilutive and are not included in earnings per share dilutive 
calculation.

Information on the classification of securities

Options quoted on the ASX and options granted to employees and other service providers are 
considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted 
earnings per share to the extent they are dilutive. These options have not been included in the 
determination of basic earnings per share.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases relate to the rent of commercial property used for business operations.

Non-cancellable operating lease payments 2014  
$’000’s

2013  
$’000’s

Within 1 year 145 54

After 1 year but not more than 5 years 81 -

After more than 5 years - -

Total minimum lease payments 226 54

(b) Contingent Assets

On 30 October 2013 the Company entered into a Deed of Settlement with its former CEO, Dr Ogru, 
her husband, Vedat Isikgel and her mother, Esin Ogru, for the misappropriated funds of $6,331,396 plus 
interest and costs. As at reporting date $2,628,083 had been repaid. Further recoveries may eventuate 
from the sale of one additional property and a portion of Dr Ogru’s future total income. The Company 
holds caveats over the real property.

On 7 November 2013 the Company entered into a Deed of Settlement with Dr Jiang, his wife and associated 
companies, for misappropriated funds of $4,392,035 plus interest and costs. These amounts are joint and 
severally liable with Dr Ogru’s debt. As at reporting date $1,158,195 had been repaid by these parties. Further 
recoveries may eventuate from the repayment from a portion of all parties’ future total income.

On 18 December 2013 the Company, and its subsidiary Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd, was awarded 
judgement in the Supreme Court of Victoria against its former employee Dr Gianello, his wife and 
an associated company. An amount of $6,053,772 was awarded for damages, $44,587 for interest 
and $23,106 for costs. The damages awarded are joint and several with the debts of the two Deeds 
described above. On 6 February 2014 Dr Gianello and his wife filed for bankruptcy. The Company is the 
largest creditor and is awaiting payment of dividend by the bankruptcy trustee which is expected before 
June 2015. Due to uncertainty regarding the timing and the amount of dividend no revenue has been 
recognised in the accounts.
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(c) Contingent Liabilities

The company is in an arbitration process with a commercial partner relating to a dispute regarding 
claims for breach of the operative agreements. The commercial partner is seeking unspecified damages. 
The company is also seeking unspecified damages. Both parties are defending the claims. The matter 
is proceeding through a formal arbitration process which is expected to last several months.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Description of segments

The group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 
used by the Chief Executive Officer in assessing the performance and in determining the allocation 
of resources.

The operating segments are identified by management based on the group’s risks and returns that are 
affected predominantly by differences in the products and services provided. The reportable segments 
are based on aggregated operating segments determined according to the nature of the products 
and services provided, with each reportable segment representing a strategic business unit that offers 
different products and serves different markets. 

Skin Care

Skin Care is the use of TP in a range of products to improve the appearance of skin. Discovery research 
at Phosphagenics has shown that α-tocopheryl phosphate (TP) is a natural molecule with increased 
activity over standard Vitamin E (α tocopherol). TP has scientifically proven anti-inflammatory properties, 
it reduces redness, protects against UV induced photo damage, and also helps to heal and prevent acne. 
The structure of TP allows it to act as a penetration enhancer, increasing dermal absorption compared to 
tocopherol acetate and α-tocopherol, allowing it to penetrate deeper into the skin for increased action. 
TPM® is also able to increase the penetration of molecules formulated in the same cream.

Phosphagenics manufactures Vital-ET®, a raw ingredient used in cosmetic formulation. Currently this 
is exclusively sold to Ashland ISP. Phosphagenics also undertakes contract manufacturing for offshore 
retailers supplying skin care products in bulk or as finished goods.

The Company is also conducting research into dermalogical products and recently completed 
a Phase 2 clinical study for the reduction of acne.

Pain Portfolio

Phosphagenics’ pain portfolio is focused on enhancing the delivery of existing drugs used for pain 
treatment. Its focus is primarily on delivering opioids, previously administered orally, through the skin 
utilising Phosphagenics’ delivery technology TPM®.

The route to market for Phosphagenics’ pain portfolio is by partnering with large pharmaceutical 
companies at the appropriate stage in a product’s development to maximise return on the Company’s 
research and development investment.

The company has licenced TPM® to Themis for inclusion in a diclofenac product for Novartis (Vovaren®). 
Phosphagenics derives revenue from the sale of raw ingredients and royalties.

All other segments

The BioElixia® division, which previously formed part of the Skin Care segment, was put up for sale at the 
end of 2014. Information about this discontinued division is provided in note 18.

Sales to the Animal Health segment did not meet materiality levels and is included in the unallocated segment.

(b) Segment results

The segment information provided to the chief executive officer for the reportable segments for the year 
ended 31 December 2014 is as follows: 
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2014
Skin Care 

$’000’s
Pain Portfolio 

$’000’s

Total all 
Segments 

$’000s
Unallocated 

$’000’s
Total Group 

$’000’s

Sales and Royalties 1,796 117 1,913 140 2,053

Total segment revenue 1,796 117 1,913 140 2,053

Interest revenue - - - 452 452

Income from government grants - - - 2,456 2,456

Recoveries - 2,095 2,095

Depreciation and amortisation (52) - (52) (3,731)  (3,783)

Employee and directors benefit 
expense - - (4,792) (4,792)

Other operating expenses from 
continuing operations (736) (2,645) (3,381) (2,534) (5,915)

Net operating profit/(loss) 
after tax 1,008 (2,528) (1,520) (5,914) (7,434)

Segment assets 1,115 70 1,185 49,716 50,901

2013
Skin Care 

$’000’s
Pain Portfolio 

$’000’s

Total all 
Segments 

$’000s
Unallocated 

$’000’s
Total Group 

$’000’s

Sales and Royalties 702 87 789 15 804

Total segment revenue 702 87 789 15 804

Interest revenue - - - 553 553

Income from government grants - - - 2,994 2,994

Recoveries - 1,690 1,690

Depreciation and amortisation (65) - (65) (3,752)  (3,817)

Employee and directors benefit 
expense

- - (4,157) (4,157)

Other operating expenses from 
continuing operations

(594) (3,673) (4,267) (4,471) (8,738)

Net operating profit/(loss) 
after tax

43 (3,586) (3,543) (7,128) (10,671)

Segment assets 744 - 744 40,944 41,688

There was no impairment charge or other significant non-cash item recognised in 2013 or 2014.

(c) Understanding segment results

(i) Segment revenue

Revenues from external customers comes from the sale of TPM® products on a wholesale basis as well 
as royalties.

Revenues of approximately $1,498,000 (2013: $205,000) are derived from a single external customer 
group. These revenues are attributed to the skin care segment.
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The entity is domiciled in Australia. The amount of its revenue from external customers broken down by 
location of customers is shown below.

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Australia 34 -

Switzerland 607 205

United States 569 497

India 117 87

Brazil 548 -

Other 38 -

Total revenue 1,913 789

Segment revenue reconciles to total revenue from continuing operations as follows:

Total segment revenue 1,913 789

Other revenue 140 15

Interest revenue 452 553

Total revenue from continuing operations (note 2) 2,505 1,357

(ii) Segment assets 

Segment assets are measured in the same way as the financial statements. These assets are allocated 
based on the operations of the segments and physical location of the asset.

The total of non-current assets broken down by location of assets is as follows:

Australia 23,838 27,531

United States 7 2

Total assets 23,845 27,533

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

Segment operating assets 1,185 744

Discontinued operation (BioElixia® - see note 18) 382 -

Unallocated

•  Intangibles 23,031 26,607

•  Cash & cash equivalents 20,679 8,823

•  All other operating assets from continuing activities 5,624 5,514

Total assets per the balance sheet 50,901 41,688

(iii) Segment liabilities 

Segment liabilities are measured in the same way as the financial statements. These liabilities are 
allocated based on the operations of the segment.

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

Segment operating liabilities - -

Unallocated:

•  Deferred tax liabilities - -

•  Other operating liabilities from continuing activities 1,873 2,187

Total liabilities per the balance sheet 1,873 2,187
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18. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(a) Description

The Company has made the strategic decision to focus resources on core business opportunities and 
has put its branded cosmetics division, BioElixia® up for sale. Accordingly this division has been treated 
as a discontinued operation for the period ended 31 December 2014.

(b) Financial performance and cash flow information

The financial performance and cash flow information presented is for the years ended 31 December 2013 
and 2014.

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Revenue (note 2) 356 801

Expenses (1,857) (2,737)

Loss before income tax (1,501) (1,936)

Income tax expense - -

Loss from discontinued operation (1,501) (1,936)

(c) Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale

The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale in relation to the discontinued 
operation as at 31 December 2014.

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Assets classified as held for sale

Inventories 382 -

Total assets of group held for sale 382 -

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 20(a)

(b) Key management personnel compensation

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,482,060 1,847,954

Post-employment benefits 85,740 106,354

Long-term benefits 107,043 103,492

Share-based payments 106,622 82,357

1,781,465 2,140,157

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 30 to 39.
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(c) Transactions with other related parties

The loss from operations includes no items of revenue and expense that resulted from transactions other 
than remuneration or equity holdings, with specified directors or their personally-related entities.

Don Clarke is a partner of law firm Minter Ellison. Minter Ellison provided professional services to the Group 
totalling $nil (2013: $9,182) during the year. These services were provided on normal commercial terms. 

20. INTEREST IN OTHER ENTITIES

(a) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Phosphagenics Limited and the 
subsidiaries listed in the following table.

Entity Country of 
Incorporation

2014 Equity 
Interest

2013 Equity 
Interest

2014 
Investment  

$’000

2013 
Investment 

$’000

Vital Health Sciences Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 27,111 27,111

Preform Technologies Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% 100% - -

Adoil Pty Ltd1 Australia 100% 100% - -

Phosphagenics Inc. USA 100% 100% - -

1 Non-operating subsidiaries

(b) Interests in associates and joint ventures

Entity Country of 
Incorporation

2014 Equity 
Interest

2013 Equity 
Interest

2014 
Investment  

$’000

2013 
Investment 

$’000

Phusion Laboratories LLC USA 50% 50% - -

Phusion Laboratories is a jointly controlled entity formed in March 2010 with ProPhase Labs Inc. Under 
the Operating Agreement Phosphagenics is not required to contribute funding. Phusion currently has 
accumulated losses which management has assessed that Phosphagenics does not have an obligation 
to make good. Accordingly Phosphagenics’ share of losses remains unrecorded in both the Consolidated 
Income Statement and Balance Sheet.

21. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than those referred to in the financial statements 
or notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the financial ear, that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years.
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22. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in 
banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial year, as shown in the statement of cash flows, is reconciled to the 
related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Cash at Bank 707 1,637

Short Term Deposits 19,972 7,186

20,679 8,823

(b) Reconciliation of net loss after tax to net cash flows from operations

Net Profit / (loss) after tax (8,935) (12,607)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, disposal and amortisation of non-current assets 3,783 3,817

Share based payment expense (ECRS) 266 202

Foreign currency translation reserve (9) (12)

Interest received (485) (588)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables and other receivables (792) 134

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 479 155

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (350) 6

(Increase)/decrease in assets classified as held for sale (382) -

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and other payables (662) 224

(Decrease)/increase in provisions 348 91

Net cash (used in) operating activities (6,739) (8,578)

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

This note explains the group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the group’s 
future financial performance. Current year profit and loss information has been included where relevant to 
add further context.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Market risk – interest rate Cash deposits at variable 
rates

Sensitivity analysis

Market risk – foreign 
exchange

Future commercial 
transactions

Recognised financial 
assets and liabilities not 
denominated in AUD

Cash flow forecasting 

Sensitivity analysis

Credit risk Cash and cash 
equivalents, trade 
receivables

Aging analysis Credit limits

Liquidity risk Other liabilities Rolling cash flow forecast Availability of cash
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The group’s overall risk management program recognises the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise material adverse effects on the financial performance of the group. The Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Management team are responsible to the Board through the 
audit and risk committee for the risk management program.

(a) Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk

The group holds interest bearing assets and therefore the income and operating cash flows are exposed 
to market interest rates. At the end of the reporting period, the group had the following term and at call 
deposits. Refer to note 22 for additional information.

2013  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 20,679 8,823

Sensitivity

Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents as a result of 
changes in interest rates. Equity does not change as a result of increase/decrease in interest rates as the 
group does not hold financial assets or liabilities designated as cash flow hedges.

Impact on post tax profit Impact on other  
components of equity

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Judgements of reasonably 
possible movements:

+1% (100 basis points) 207 88 - -

-0.5% (50 basis points) (103) (44) - -

(ii) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
are denominated in a currency that is not the group’s functional currency. The group operates in the 
United States as well as sells TPM® products and buys raw materials for their production which are 
denominated in US dollars. The group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency 
exposures of transactions in US dollars.

The group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposures but maintains cash 
deposits in both Australian and US dollars. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
regularly monitor the potential impact of movements in foreign exchange exposure.

Approximately 78% of sales and royalties (2013: 45%) are denominated in currencies other than the 
presentation currency of the Group (Australian dollars), whilst approximately 78% (2013: 76%) of costs are 
denominated in the Groups presentation currency. 

At 31 December 2014 the Group had the following exposure to US dollar foreign currency not designated 
in cash flow hedges:



PHOSPHAGENICS LIMITED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT    201484

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 61 25

Trade and other receivables 568 205

629 230

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables (407) (420)

Net Exposure 222 (190)

Sensitivity

The group is primarily exposed to changes in US/AUD exchange rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss to 
changes in the US/AUD exchange rate arises mainly from US-denominated financial assets and liabilities.

Impact on post tax profit Impact on other  
components of equity

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

2014  
$’000

2013  
$’000

Judgements of reasonably 
possible movements:

Consolidated

AUD/USD +10% (20) 23 - -

AUD/USD -10% 25 11 - -

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group comprising cash and cash equivalents and 
trade and other receivables. Credit risk refers to the risk the counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with 
creditworthy counterparties and setting appropriate credit limits, as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial loss from defaults. 

Group exposure to counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions 
concluded are with approved counterparties. The Group does not have any significant credit risk 
exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. 
The credit risk on liquid funds and financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks 
with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The Group measures credit risk 
on a fair value basis.

The carrying value of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the Groups maximum exposure to credit risk. Maturity analysis of financial assets 
and liabilities based on management’s expectations as follows:

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintain sufficient cash balances. The directors regularly 
monitor the cash positon of the group, giving consideration to the level of expenditure and future project 
commitments. 

(d) Fair value

Due to the short term nature of the financial instruments, their carrying value is assumed to approximate 
their fair value. 
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24. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 31 December 
2014  

$’000

 31 December 
2013  

$’000

Balance Sheet

Current assets 26,102 13,705

Total assets 79,530 67,504

Current liabilities 1,750 2,090

Total liabilities 1,806 2,146

Shareholders’ equity

Issued capital 228,100 209,895

Reserves

Employee equity benefits reserve 2,056 1,790

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 146 (31)

Other equity-settled benefits reserve 306 306

Accumulated losses (152,884) (146,602)

77,724 64,358

Loss of the parent entity (6,282) (8,866)

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity (6,282) (8,866)

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts 
of its subsidiaries

- -

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity - -

Contractual commitments by the parent equity for the acquisition 
of property, plant or equipment. 

- -
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In the directors’ opinion: 

 (a)  the financial statements and notes of Phosphagenics Limited for the financial year ended  
31 December 2014 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements; and 

  (ii)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 
2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Lawrence Gozlan 
Chairman

26 February 2015 
Melbourne
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT.)
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Additional Shareholder Information-ASX Listing Rule 4.10. as at 18 March 2015

SHARES :

Twenty Largest Holdings : Ordinary Fully Paid Shares. As at  
18/03/15

% Issued 
Shares

Ranking

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 228,744,974 18.13 1

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 125,389,787 9.94 2

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 72,099,561 5.71 3

PAROHA NOMINEES PTY LTD 61,167,143 4.85 4

JOGRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 44,377,714 3.52 5

MR ROSS COPELAND + MRS GINA COPELAND 42,282,190 3.35 6

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 42,211,515 3.34 7

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 34,453,500 2.73 8

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 29,145,372 2.31 9

ZAHAVETTE PTY LTD 13,737,372 1.09 10

MR ROSS GRAHAM COPELAND + MRS GINA COPELAND 
<PUBLICITY PRESS S/F A/C>

11,094,836 0.88 11

SUPERDES PTY LTD <SUPERDES SUPER FUND A/C> 9,377,999 0.74 12

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 8,404,662 0.67 13

MRS SUSAN MARGARET CHUDLEIGH + MR JOHN WEST 
CHUDLEIGH

7,500,000 0.59 14

MR JEFFREY MARKOFF <MARKOFF SUPER ST5 A/C> 7,365,575 0.58 15

MR DAVID SEGAL 6,963,666 0.55 16

PARADYCE PTY LTD 6,360,052 0.50 17

DECOLAND HOLDINGS PTY LTD 5,500,000 0.44 18

MRS DANIELLE SEGAL 5,140,000 0.41 19

DR MAURICE ARTHUR TREWHELLA + MRS ELIZABETH 
TREWHELLA <SIMPETEJEN SUPER FUND A/C>

5,093,467 0.40 20

 Sub-Total -  Top 20 Holders  766,409,385  60.73 

                   -  Other Holders  495,556,572.00  39.27 

 TOTAL ISSUED SHARES  1,261,965,957 100.00

VOTING RIGHTS

Shares :   One vote per share.    

    

RANGE OF SHAREHOLDERS 18/03/15

Range Holders Units %

1-1000  445  117,236 0.01

1001-5000  1,014  3,182,776 0.25

5001-10000  845  6,743,092 0.53

10001-100000  2,503  95,050,924 7.53

100001-OVER  968  1,156,871,929 91.67

 5,775 1,261,965,957  100.00 
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MARKETABLE PARCELS - SHARES

Holdings that are less than a marketable parcel of the Company’s ordinary fully paid shares as at 18 March 
2015 at a closing price of A$0.033 a share, consisted of a total of 2,726 holders each holding a parcel 
of less than 15,152 shares and covering an aggregate of 15,457,130 shares.    

BUY-BACK    

The Company has not undertaken any share buy-back  plans during or since the year ended 
31 December 2014.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

The following Substantial Shareholdings (‘SSH’) have been declared to the Company: 

Holder of relevant interest Entitlement to 
No. securities

Date of SSH 
Notice

Form No.

Orbis Global Equity Fund Ltd  133,609,911 22.03.2012 604

Harry Rosen  64,226,436 01.09.14 604

Broking Commissions: Not applicable.

UNQUOTED OPTIONS

OPTIONS : EXPIRED 22 MAY 2014

As at closed of buisness on 22 May 2014 the Company had received no applications for the exercise 
of these fully vested 1,000,000 optionsat an exercise price of $0.17 an option.

As such, a total of 1,000,000 options automatically lapsed through non-exercise on 22 May 2014.

OPTIONS : EXPIRING 22 MAY 2019 As at 
18.03.2015

% Issued Ranking

Dr G CAUWENBERGH 1,000,000 33.33.. 1

Mr N DRONA 1,000,000 33.33.. 2

MONTOYA PTY LTD <ATF Buttercup Trust> 1,000,000 33.33.. 3

3,000,000 100.00%

These options were granted to directors by shareholder resolutions passed at the May 2014 Annual 
General Meeting. The options are fully vested and have an exercise price of $0.1712 each 

VOTING RIGHTS

Options carry no voting rights.

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION PLAN (“THE PLAN”)

As at the date of this report the Company has no options on issue under the terms & conditions of the PLAN.

An historical summary of the options issued under the PLAN is:   

Granted 15,900,000

Less Lapsed -13,250,000 

Less Exercised -2,650,000 

Total now on issue  -  

VOTING RIGHTS

ESOP Options carry no voting rights.

ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.)
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.)

UNQUOTED RESTRICTED SECURITIES

CONDITIONAL RIGHTS   NO VOTING RIGHTS

At the 2011 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the establishment of an employees 
Conditional Rights Plan.

At the same meeting shareholders approved and authorised the Company to issue a total of 5,800,000 
Rights to the directors noted in the various resolutions. In addition to the 5,800,00 shareholder authorised 
Rights the Company has issued, in total, 15,550,000 Rights to employees bringing the total number of 
Rights issued under the Plan to 21,350,000.

Up to and including 18 March 2015 a total of 8,150,00 employee Rights have lapsed leaving a total of 
non-exercised Rights of 13,2000,000 as at 18 March 2015 of which a Director holds 2,000,000 Rights and 
Employees 13,200,000 Rights.

All Rights have been issued on the terms set out in the Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the 
Notice of Meeting for the 2011 Annual General Meeting. Upon the achievement of the stated milestones 
and having vested  the Rights may be exercised on the basis of one new ordinary Phosphagenics Limited 
share for each Right so exercised.

The Rights and any shares issued pursuant to the exercise of the Rights are subject to the restrictions 
as set out in the Conditional Rights Plan document as referred to the the 2011 Annual General Meeting 
documentation. 

As at the date of this information no Rights have vested.
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Phosphagenics Limited 
(ABN 32 056 482 403)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Mr Lawrence Gozlan (Chairman and  
Independent Director)

Mr Harry Rosen (Executive Director)

Dr Geert Cauwenbergh (Independent Director)

Mr Nathan Drona (Independent Director)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Dr Ross Murdoch

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Mourice Garbutt

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Mr David Segal

REGISTERED OFFICE
11 Duerdin Street 
Clayton VIC 3168 
Australia

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS OFFICE
11 Duerdin Street 
Clayton VIC 3168 
Australia

PO Box 1415 
Clayton South MDC VIC 3169

Telephone: +61 (0)3 9565 1119 
Facsimile: +61 (0)3 9565 1151

Email: info@phosphagenics.com

Web: www.phosphagenics.com 
www.bioelixia.com

US OFFICE
1271 Avenue of the Americas  
Suite 4300  
New York NY 10020 USA

Telephone: +1 (212) 378 6711

SHARE REGISTRY
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 
Yarra Falls 
452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford VIC 3067 
Australia

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Level 19  
2 Southbank Boulevard 
Southbank, VIC 3006 
Australia

AUSTRALIAN SECURITIES  
EXCHANGE LIMITED
The company’s securities are quoted on the 
official lists of the Australian Securities Exchange 
Limited (ASX). The company’s ASX Code is POH 
and the home exchange is in Melbourne.

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT
In July 2007, the company upgraded its level 
1 American Depository Receipt (ADR) on the US 
over-the-counter (OTC) securities market to the 
international OTCQX, a new premium market 
tier in the US for international exchange-listed 
companies, operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. 
The company’s ADR ticker symbol is PPGNY.

JANUARY

Novartis and Themis launch Diclofenac gels in India. 
First pharmaceutical product to be commercialised.

MAY

Phosphagenics TPM®/Oxycodone patch alleviates 
pain in racehorses.

JUNE

Le Métier de Beauté assets sold to Maison de Beauté. 
Phosphagenics license arrangement to sell high end 
cosmetics is strengthened.

JULY

Capital Raising of $19.3 million successfully completed. 
Several new institutions supported the placement.

AUGUST

First IND enabling study for oxymorphone completed. 
Results replicate October 2013 trial indicating therapeutic 
levels in blood plasma concentration.

OCTOBER

Successful results from acne trial comparing  
TPM®/Tretinoin with market leader Retin-A®.

HIGHLIGHTS 2014 CORPORATE DIRECTORY






